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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended October 28, 2012
OR
TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from __ to

Commission file number0-15451

PHOTROKICE

PHOTRONICS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Connecticut 06-0854886
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (IRSEmployer Identification No.)
15 Secor Road, Brookfield, Connecticu 06804
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant's telephone number, including area (203) 779000

Securitiesregistered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registert
Common Stock, $.01 par val NASDAQ Global Select Marke

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405ed8#dturities Act.
YesOO No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ortfeecl5(d) of the Act.
YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @l filed all reports required to be filed by Sectid or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preagdia months (or for such shorter period that tlgésteant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has bedapestito such filing requirements for the past 89sd

YesXI NoO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lnasmtted electronically and posted on its corpovalb site, if any,
every Interactive Data File required to be subrdiiad posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation(§282.405 of this
chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or fohsslorter period that the registrant was requioeslibmit and post such
files).

Yesx] NoO

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiiets pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (82®% of this chapter) is
not contained herein, and will not be containedhtobest of registrant's knowledge in definitivexy or information
statements incorporated by reference in Part Ithisf Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 1@K.



Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlezge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer noa-accelerated filer. See
definition of "accelerated filer and large acceledsfiler” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large Accelerated Filddd ~ Accelerated FileiXI ~ Non-Accelerated Filddl ~ Smaller Reporting Comparkyt

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgfe Act).
YesO No

As of April 29, 2012, which was the last busineag df the registrant's most recently completed sediscal quarter, the
aggregate market value of the shares of the ragisgrcommon stock held by non-affiliates was axiprately
$376,906,797 (based upon the closing price of $petGhare as reported by the NASDAQ Global Séferket on that

date).
As of December 31, 2012, 60,721,580 shares ofdfhistrant's common stock were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Proxy Statement for the 20:
Annual Meeting of Shareholde Incorporated into Part |
to be held in April 201 of this Form 1-K




Forward-Looking Statements

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B9®ovides a "safe harbor" for forward-looking staents made by or on behalf of
Photronics, Inc. ("Photronics" or the "Company"hese statements are based on management's kadiefs|l as assumptions made by, and
information currently available to, managementwead-looking statements may be identified by wdikks "expect”, "anticipate”, "believe",
"plan”, "projects”, and similar expressions, or tisgative of such terms, or other comparable testogy. All forward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties that are diffidolfpredict. In particular, any statement contaimetthis annual report on Form 10-K, in press
releases, written statements, or other documdatbwiith the Securities and Exchange Commissiom tte Company's communications and
discussions with investors and analysts in the aboourse of business through meetings, phone caltonference calls, regarding the
consummation and benefits of future acquisitionpeetations with respect to future sales, finanp@aformance, operating efficiencies, or
product expansion, are subject to known and unknistes, uncertainties, and contingencies, manylitivare beyond the control of the
Company. These factors may cause actual resutferpence, or achievements to differ materiallynfranticipated results, performance, or
achievements expressed or implied by such forwaolihg statements. Factors that might affect soclwdrd-looking statements include, but
are not limited to, overall economic and busineswdions; economic and political conditions inemtational markets; the demand for the
Company's products; competitive factors in the stdes and geographic markets in which the Companypetes; changes in federal, state
and international tax requirements (including taberchanges, new tax laws and revised tax lawpretations); interest rate fluctuations and
other capital market conditions, including chanigethe market price of the Company's common stéarieign currency exchange rate
fluctuations; changes in technology; the timingpaut, and other uncertainties of future acquisgtjadhe seasonal and cyclical nature of the
semiconductor and flat panel display industriesnagement changes; damage or destruction to the &uonsgfacilities or the facilities of its
customers or suppliers by natural disasters, latvikes, political unrest, or terrorist activityyet ability of the Company to (i) place new
equipment in service on a timely basis; (ii) obtadiditional financing; (iii) achieve anticipatedngygies and other cost savings in connection
with acquisitions and productivity programs; (iv)ly utilize its tools; (v) achieve desired yielgsjcing, product mix, and market acceptance
of its products and (vi) obtain necessary expodrises. Any forward-looking statements should msidered in light of these factors.
Accordingly, there is no assurance that the Comiaxpectations will be realized. The Company du#sassume responsibility for the
accuracy and completeness of the forward-lookiatestents and does not assume an obligation tod&egvisions to any forward-looking
statements, except as otherwise required by sesuaind other applicable laws.




PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

Photronics, Inc. is a Connecticut corporation, oiged in 1969. Its principal executive offices lreated at 15 Secor Road, Brookfield,
Connecticut 06804, telephone (203) 775-9000. PhatspInc. and its subsidiaries are collectivefigneed to herein as "Photronics” or the
"Company". The Company's website is located atMipvw.photronics.com. The Company makes availdiée of charge through its
website, its annual reports on Form 10-K, quartexports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form & amendments to those reports filed
or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(dhefSecurities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon agmnahsy practicable after such materials
are electronically filed or furnished to the Setias and Exchange Commission. The information éoathor incorporated in the Company's
website is not part of these documents.

Photronics is one of the world's leading manufaagipf photomasks, which are high precision pheatolgic quartz plates containing
microscopic images of electronic circuits. Photokseare a key element in the manufacture of semisoctods and flat panel displays
("FPDs"), and are used as masters to transfericpatierns onto semiconductor wafers and flat panlestrates during the fabrication of
integrated circuits ("ICs") and a variety of FPDslato a lesser extent, other types of electrindl @ptical components. The Company
currently operates principally from eight manufaitg facilities; two of which are located in Eurgp@o in Taiwan, one in Korea and thret
the United States. In the first quarter of fiscal2 the Company ceased the manufacturing of phatkereat its Singapore facility.

Manufacturing Technology

The Company manufactures photomasks, which areassethsters to transfer circuit patterns onto semdigctor wafers and flat panel
substrates. The photomasks are manufactured imdezuze with circuit designs provided on a configdriasis by the Company's customers.
IC and FPD photomask sets are manufactured indagach having a distinct pattern which is etch&d a different photomask. The resul!
series of photomasks is then used to image theitpatterns onto each successive layer of a semiator wafer or flat panel substrate. The
typical manufacturing process for a photomask inesithe receipt and conversion of circuit desigia tiamanufacturing pattern data. A
lithography system then exposes the circuit pateto the photomask blank. The exposed areas astoped and etched to produce that
pattern on the photomask. The photomask is thgreatsed for defects and conformity to the custonter&gn data. After any defects are
repaired, the photomask is cleaned using a pr@pyigtrocess, any required pellicles (protectivaghacent cellulose membranes) are applied
and, after final inspection, the photomask is sbipf the customer.

The Company currently supports customers acrosulihgpectrum of IC production and FPD technolegdy manufacturing photomas
using electron beam or optical (laser-based) tdogies. Electron beam and laser-based systembeamrédominant technologies used for
photomask manufacturing. These technologies ar@btapf producing the finer line resolution, tighteerlay and larger die size for the
larger and more complex circuits currently beingigeed. Electron beam and laser generated phot@ncaskbe used with the most advanced
processing techniques to produce the most advaserattonductors and FPDs for use in an array ofymsd However, in the case of IC
production, electron beam technologies fabricagddahge majority of critical layer photomasks. Endrkets served with IC photomasks
include devices used for microprocessors, memelgcommunications and related applications. The [y currently owns a number of
high-end and mature electron beam and laser-bgséshss. Photomasks produced using laser-basedrsyate less expensive and less
precise than those manufactured on high-end elebieam systems.

The first several layers of photomasks are sometirguired to be delivered by the Company withirh@drs from the time it receives
customers' design data. The ability to manufadtigk quality photomasks within short time periosislépendent upon robust processes,
geographic proximity to customers, efficient mamrtiiaing methods, high production yield and highipment reliability. The Company
works to meet these requirements by making sigmificnvestments in research and development, metwiiag, and data processing syste
and by utilizing statistical process control methaal optimize the manufacturing process and redycke times.




Quality control is an integral part of the photokasanufacturing process. Photomasks are manufaciatemperature, humidity, and
particulate controlled clean rooms because of i level of precision, quality and manufactuririglgt required. Each photomask is
inspected several times during the manufacturinggss to ensure compliance with customer spedditatThe Company continues to make
substantial investments in equipment to inspectrapdir photomasks to ensure that customer spatdits are met.

The majority of IC photomasks produced for the samductor industry employ geometries of 65 nanorsaielarger. At these
geometries, the Company can produce full lineshotpmasks and there is no significant technologpleyed by the Company's competitors
that is not also available to the Company. The Camgps also capable of producing full lines of ghmasks for high-end IC and FPD
applications. In the case of ICs, this includestphmasks at and below the 45 nanometer technolodg and, for FPDs, at and above the
Generation 8 technology node and active-matrix mirgkght-emitting diode (AMOLED) display screernghe Company has access to
technology and customer qualified manufacturingabdpy that allows it to compete in high-end magkeserving both IC and FPD
applications.

Sales and Marketing

The market for photomasks primarily consists of defit and international semiconductor and FPD naantufers and designers,
including a limited number of manufacturers whoédéve capability to internally manufacture photoksa$hotomasks are manufactured by
independent merchant manufacturers like Photroaitg,by semiconductor and FPD manufacturers tlalyze photomasks exclusively for
their own use (captive manufacturers). Previoustyd was a trend towards the divesture or closingjative photomask operations by
semiconductor manufacturers and an increase ighthie of the market served by independent manuéasturhis trend was driven by the
increased complexity and cost of capital equipnuset] in manufacturing photomasks and the lack afi@ny of scale for many
semiconductor and FPD manufacturers to effectiuélize the equipment. However, more recentlyrdi@aining and largest captive mask
facilities have started investing at faster ratestindependent manufacturers to capture certainmap requirements. Nevertheless, most
captives maintain business and technology reldtipsswith independent photomask manufacturers figioong support.

Generally, the Company and each of its customegagmin a qualification and correlation processteethe Company becomes an
approved supplier. Thereafter, the Company typiaadigotiates pricing parameters for a customedsrsrbased on the customer's
specifications. Some prices may remain in effecafoextended period of time. In some instancesCibmpany enters into sales arrangen
with an understanding that, as long as the Compa®yformance is competitive, the Company will heee specified percentage of that
customer's photomask requirements.

The Company conducts its sales and marketing esyrimarily through a staff of full-time salesrgonnel and customer service
representatives who work closely with the Compamasagement and technical personnel. In additidhé®ales personnel at the Compa
manufacturing facilities, the Company has salegedfthroughout the United States, Europe and Asia.

The Company supports international customers thrduggh its domestic and international facilitieeeTCompany considers its presence
in international markets to be an important faaoattracting new customers, providing global solus to its customers, minimizing delivery
time, and serving customers that utilize manuféegufoundries outside of the United States, priatlipin Asia. See Note 17 to the
Company's consolidated financial statements foatheunt of net sales and loliged assets attributable to each of the Compagsographic
areas of operations.




Customers

The Company primarily sells its products to leadiegniconductor and FPD manufacturers. The Compéargest customers (listed
alphabetically) during the fiscal year ended Octd®; 2012 ("fiscal 2012") included the following:

Aptina Imaging Corporatio Magnachip Semiconduct

AU Optronics Corp Micron Technology, Inc

Dongbu HiTek Co. Ltd Nanya Technology Corporatic

Global Foundries, Inc Novatek Microelectronics Corp., Lt

Himax Display, Inc Samsung Electronics Co., Li

IM Flash Technologies, LL! ST Microelectronics, Inc

Inotera Memoaories, Inc Systems on Silicon Manufacturing Co. Pte. |
Intel Corporatior Texas Instruments Incorporat

Jenoptik AG United Microelectronics Corj

LG Electronics, Inc X-FAB Silicon Foundrie:

During fiscal 2012, the Company sold its producis services to approximately 600 customers. SamEBiewronics Co., Ltd. accounted
for approximately 22%, 20% and 19% of the Compangtsales in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respalgtihis included sales of both IC
and FPD photomasks. The Company's five largesbmess, in the aggregate, accounted for approximddo, 45% and 39% of net sales in
fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. A sigaifit decrease in the amount of sales to any oé thiestomers could have a material adverse
effect on the financial performance and businesspects of the Company.

Seasonality

The Company's quarterly revenues can be affecteddogeasonal purchasing of its customers. The @oynis typically impacted during
its first quarter by the North American and Eurapbaliday periods, as some customers reduce tfieative workdays and orders during t
period. Additionally, the Company can be impactadm its first or second fiscal quarter by theasNew Year holiday period, which also
may reduce customer orders.

Research and Development

The Company conducts its primary research and dprednt activities for IC photomasks at its MP Masichnology Center, LLC ("MP
Mask"), a joint venture with Micron Technology, INtMicron”) and at its U.S. nanoFab, both of whiate located in Boise, Idaho, and also
at PK, Ltd. (“PKL"), its subsidiary in Korea, antiRhotronics Semiconductor Mask Corporation (“PSM®@he of its subsidiaries in Taiwan,
and for FPD photomasks at PKL, and in site-speoifsearch and development programs to supporégicatustomers. These research and
development programs and activities are designedv¥ance the Company's leadership in technologyreardifacturing efficiency. The
Company also conducts application oriented resemndrdevelopment activities to support the earlypdidn of new photomask or supporting
data and services technology into the customepdicapions. Currently, research and developmentghask activities for ICs are focused on
20 nanometer node and below, and for FPDs on Girre@resolution enhancement masks, substratgseri@nan Generation 8 and masks
AMOLED type displays. The Company believes thege competencies will continue to be a critical gdrsemiconductor and FPD
manufacturing, as optical lithography continuesdale device capabilities at and below 45 nanonzetérat and above Generation 8. The
Company has incurred research and development segpef $ 19.4 million, $15.5 million and $14.9 il in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. The Company believes that it ownstrods, or licenses valuable proprietary informatibat is necessary for its business as it is
presently conducted. This includes trade secretgelisas patents. The Company believes that iedledtual property and trade secret know-
how will continue to be important to its technit@ddership in the field of photomasks.

Patents and Trademarks

The Company has ownership interests in over 5@&US. patents, and over 24 registered patemther parts of the world. The subj
matter of these patents, which are registerediiows countries, generally relates to the manufeotfi IC photomasks or the use of
photomasks to manufacture other products. The a&xmir dates of these patents range from 2018 t6.28&ditionally, pursuant to a
technology license agreement with Micron, the Comyd@as access to certain technology of Micron afdNWask. The Company also has a
number of trademarks and trademark registratiotiseérinited States and in other countries.




While the Company believes that its intellectualparty is, and will continue to be, important te thiompany's technical leadership in
field of photomasks, the Company's operations ateleapendent on any one individual patent. The Gomprotects its intellectual property
rights regarding products and manufacturing prazeby utilizing patents. The Company also reliesamdisclosure agreements with
employees, customers and vendors to protect gfieatual property and proprietary processes.

Materials, Supplies and Equipment

Raw materials used by the Company generally inchigle precision quartz plates (including large grledes), which are used as
photomask blanks, primarily obtained from JapareskKorean suppliers; pellicles and electronic greltemicals, which are used in the
manufacturing process; and compacts, which arebtRiastic containers in which photomasks arepgdp These materials are generally
sourced from several suppliers. The Company bdiéivat its utilization of a select group of strateguppliers enables it to access the most
technologically advanced materials available. Ow@going basis, the Company continues to considditianal supply sources.

The Company relies on a limited number of equipnseippliers to develop and supply the equipment irséte photomask
manufacturing process. Although the Company has bbk to obtain equipment on a timely basis, ability to obtain equipment when
required could adversely affect the Company's lassirand results of operations.

Backlog

The first several layers of a set of photomasksfoircuit pattern are often required to be shippétin 24 hours of receiving a
customer's designs. Because of the short periageletorder and shipment dates (typically from 1tda3 weeks) for a significant amount of
the Company's sales, the dollar amount of curracklog is not considered to be a reliable indicatduture sales volume.

International Operations

Sales from the Company’s international operatiomsre approximately 70%, 69% and 71% of the Comgamgt sales in fiscal 2012,
2011 and 2010, respectively. The Company belidvassits ability to serve international markets riegmiit to have, among other things, a
local presence in the markets that it serves. ftjgires a significant investment in financial, mgerial, operational, and other resources.

Operations outside of the United States are suljdaherent risks, including fluctuations in exolya rates, political and economic
conditions in various countries, unexpected chamngesgulatory requirements, tariffs and other ¢&rdarriers, difficulties in staffing and
managing international operations, longer accorgusivable collection cycles and potentially adedex consequences. These factors may
have a material adverse effect on the Companylisyaioi generate sales outside of the United Statekto deploy resources where they could
otherwise be used to their greatest advantagecandequently, may adversely affect its financialditon and results of operations. Note 17
of the notes to the Company's consolidated findist@@ements reports net sales and long-lived sibsegeographic region.

Competition

The photomask industry is highly competitive andstraf the Company's customers utilize multiple phaask suppliers. The Company's
ability to compete depends primarily upon the csiesicy of its products’ quality, timeliness of deliy, as well as pricing, technical
capability and service, which the Company believa® the principal factors considered by custorimtesglecting their photomask suppliers.
The Company also believes that proximity to custengean important factor in certain markets wtaree time from order to delivery is
critical. A few competitors have greater financtakhnical, sales, marketing and other resourasttie Company. An inability to meet these
requirements could adversely affect the Companmyantial condition, results of operations and dislis. The Company believes that it is
able to compete effectively because of its dedicatid customer service, investment in state-ofafigghotomask equipment and facilities,
experienced technical employees.




The Company estimates that, for the types of phasis it manufactures (IC and FPD), the size ofdtsd market (captive and merche
is approximately $3.6 billion. Its competitors inde Compugraphics, Inc., Dai Nippon Printing Cdd.] Hoya Corporation, SK-Electronics
Co. Ltd., Taiwan Mask Corporation and Toppan PmgpiCo., Ltd. The Company also competes with sendigotor manufacturers' captive
photomask manufacturing operations that supplygrhasks for internal use and, in some instances fatsexternal customers and foundri
The Company expects to face continued competitibichy in the past, has led to pressure to reducegrThe Company believes the
pressure to reduce prices has contributed to tbeedse in the number of independent manufactuartsexpects such pressure to continue in
the future.

Employees

As of October 28, 2012, the Company had approxilpat800 employees. The Company believes it offerapetitive compensation a
other benefits and that its employee relationgya.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Company's dependency on the semiconductor inding, which as a whole is volatile, could have a negjive material impact on its
business.

The Company sells substantially all of its photoksa® semiconductor designers, manufacturers amtlfies, as well as to other high
performance electronics manufacturers. The Compatligves that the demand for photomasks depenaigply on design activity rather
than sales volume from products using photomagkntdogies. Consequently, an increase in semicondoctFPD sales does not necessarily
result in a corresponding increase in photomaséss#ih addition, the reduced use of customized a@sduction in design complexity, other
changes in the technology or methods of manufawjwi designing semiconductors or a slowdown initreduction of new semiconductor
or FPD designs could reduce demand for photomasgks i€the demand for semiconductors and FPDs &s&® Further, advances in design
and production methods for semiconductors and dtigér performance electronics could reduce the dehfiar photomasks. Historically, the
semiconductor industry has been volatile, with ghgm@riodic downturns and slowdowns. These downthave been characterized by, among
other things, diminished product demand, excesdymtion capacity and accelerated erosion of sepinces.

The Company's results may suffer if either the IGBD photomask market does not grow or if the Camygds unable to serve these
markets successfully. The Company believes thati¢iheand for photomasks for both ICs and FPDs deppricharily on design activity and,
to a lesser extent, upon an increase in the nuoft@oduction facilities used to manufacture IC$8Ds. As a result, an increase in IC or
FPD sales will not necessarily lead to a correspanihcrease in photomask sales. A slowdown irdiéselopment of new technologies for
fabricating ICs or FPDs could reduce the demanddiated photomasks even if the demand for ICsERDg-increases.

The Company may incur future net losses.

Although the Company has been profitable sincaafi2010, it has, in the past, incurred net losths.net losses experienced in prior
recent years were due, in part, to macroeconoroioifs, which resulted in significant charges fatracturings and impairments of lotiged
assets. The Company cannot provide assurance thidlitriot incur net losses in the future.

The Company's quarterly operating results fluctuatesignificantly and may continue to do so in the futre.

The Company has experienced fluctuations in itstqus operating results and anticipates that gluahiuations will continue and could
intensify in the future. Fluctuations in operatiggults may result in volatility in the prices bEtCompany's common stock and financial
instruments linked to the value of the Companymmon stock. Operating results may fluctuate asaltref many factors, including the size
and timing of orders and shipments, the loss afii@@nt customers, changes in product mix, the/ftd customer design releases,
technological change, fluctuations in manufactusiredds, competition and general economic condgidrhe Company operates in a high
fixed cost environment and, should its revenuesamset utilization decrease, its operating margingd be negatively impacted.




The Company's customers generally order photonm@sks as-needed basis, and substantially all adftdmpany's net sales in any
quarter are dependent on orders received duringtlater. Since the Company operates with litdekbog and the rate of new orders may
vary significantly from quarter-to-quarter, the Quany's capital expenditures and, to some exteptrese levels are based primarily on sales
forecasts. Consequently, if anticipated sales yncararter do not occur when expected, capital ediperes and expense levels could be
disproportionately high, and the Company's opegatasults would be adversely affected. Due to thedoing factors, the Company believes
that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of its opegat@sults are not necessarily meaningful and tieste comparisons cannot be relied upon as
indicators of future performance. In addition, uiufre quarters the Company's operating resultsldeeibelow the expectations of public
market analysts and investors which, in turn, condderially adversely affect the market price & @ompany's common stock.

The photomask industry is subject to rapid technolgical change and the Company might fail to remain@mpetitive, which could have
a material adverse effect on the Company's businessid results of operations.

The photomask industry has been, and is expecteartinue to be, characterized by technologicahgkaand evolving industry
standards. In order to remain competitive, the Camypwill be required to continually anticipate,pesad to and utilize changing technologies
of increasing complexity in both traditional andexging markets that it serves. In particular, tleen@any believes that, as semiconductor
geometries continue to become smaller and FPDsretarger with improved performance, it will be u@gd to manufacture increasingly
complex photomasks. Additionally, the demand footpmasks has been, and could in the future berselyeaffected by changes in
semiconductor and high performance electronicadation methods that affect the type or quantitplebtomasks utilized, such as changes in
semiconductor demand that favor field programmghle arrays and other semiconductor designs thktae application-specific ICs.
Furthermore, increased market acceptance of atteenmethods of transferring IC designs onto semdetor wafers could reduce or
eliminate the need for photomasks in the produatiosemiconductors. As of the end of fiscal 201i& alternative method, direct-write
lithography, has not been proven to be a comméyaiable alternative to photomasks, as it is cdaséd to be too slow for high volume
semiconductor wafer production. However, shouléaiwrite or any other alternative method of trangfig IC designs to semiconductor
wafers without the use of photomasks achieve maketptance, and if the Company is unable to gatiej respond to or utilize these or
other technological changes, due to resource, tdabital or other constraints, its business andlte®f operations could be materially
adversely affected.

The Company's operations will continue to require sbstantial capital expenditures, for which it may ke unable to obtain funding.

The manufacture of photomasks requires substantiastments by the Company in high-end manufaagucapability. The Company
expects that it will be required to continue to makibstantial capital expenditures to meet thenolgical demands of its customers and to
position itself for future growth. The Company'pital expenditure payments for fiscal 2013 are etgmtto be in the range of $70 million to
$90 million, of which $7 million was in accountsyédle and accrued liabilities as of October 28,20he Company cannot provide
assurance that it will be able to obtain the addéi capital required to fund its operations orsog@ble terms, if at all, or that any such
inability will not have a material adverse effeatits business and results of operations.

The Company's agreements with Micron have severalsks; should either company not comply or executender these agreements it
could significantly disrupt the Company's businessnd technological activities, which could have a ntarial adverse effect on the
Company's operations or cash flows.

In 2006 Photronics and Micron entered into a jogriture known as MP Mask. The joint venture develmpd produces photomasks for
leading-edge and advanced next generation semictduAs part of the formation of the joint verguMicron contributed its existing
photomask technology center located at its Bod&hd, headquarters to MP Mask and Photronics paicbll $135 million in exchange for a
49.99% interest in MP Mask, a license for photormtasknology of Micron and certain supply agreemegitsce the formation of the joint
venture, the Company has, through October 28, 20&8le contributions to MP Mask of $38 million aedeived returns of investments of
$10 million.




MP Mask is governed by a Board of Managers, appdibly Micron and the Company. Since MP Mask's itioepMicron, as a result of
its majority ownership, has held majority votingymr on the Board of Managers. The voting power hgléach party is subject to change as
ownership interests change. Under the MP Mask j@nture operating agreement, the Company maydueresl to make additional capital
contributions to MP Mask up to the maximum amoueftrebd in the operating agreement. However, shthddBoard of Managers determine
that further additional funding is required, MP Mahall pursue its own financing. If MP Mask is bleato obtain its own financing, it may
request additional capital contributions from tren@any. Should the Company choose not to makeweséed contribution to MP Mask, its
ownership percentage may be reduced.

The failure of Photronics or Micron to comply oreexite under any of these agreements, capitaliteeonse of existing technology or
further develop technology could result in a siguaifit disruption to the Company's business andhtaolgical activities, and could adversely
affect the Company's operations and cash flows.

The Company has been dependent on sales to a lintiteumber of large customers; the loss of any of tise customers or a significant
reduction in orders from these customers could hava material adverse effect on its sales and resulb$ operations.

Historically, the Company has sold a significarggmrtion of photomasks to a limited number of 1@ &PD manufacturers. During fis
2012, one customer, Samsung Electronics Co., atdgunted for approximately 22% of the Companytsakes. The Company's five largest
customers, in the aggregate, accounted for appeigign43%, 45% and 39% of net sales in fiscal 2@02,1, and 2010, respectively. None of
the Company's customers has entered into a signtflong-term agreement with the Company requitiregn to purchase the Company's
products. The loss of a significant customer dgaiicant reduction or delay in orders from angrsficant customer, (including reductions
delays due to customer departures from recent guatterns), or an unfavorable change in markena&mic, or competitive conditions in 1
semiconductor or FPD industries, could have a rizdtedverse effect on the Company's financial perfnce and business prospects. The
consolidation of semiconductor manufacturers oe@nomic downturn in the semiconductor industry nayease the likelihood of losing a
significant customer and also have an adversetaifethe Company's financial performance and bssipeospects.

The Company depends on a small number of suppliefer equipment and raw materials and, if the Companys suppliers do not delive
their products to it, the Company may be unable taleliver its products to its customers, which couladversely affect its business and
results of operations.

The Company relies on a limited number of photormeagkipment manufacturers to develop and supplegtiugpment it uses. These
equipment manufacturers currently require leaddiofeup to twelve months or longer between the roanhel the delivery of certain
photomask imaging and inspection equipment. THerabf such manufacturers to develop or delivehsequipment on a timely basis could
have a material adverse effect on the Companyladssand results of operations. Further, the Compalies on equipment manufacturer
develop future generations of manufacturing equipne meet its requirements. In addition, the maotufring equipment necessary to
produce advanced photomasks could become prolalyitexpensive.

The Company uses high precision quartz photomaskb| pellicles, and electronic grade chemicaltssimanufacturing processes. Tt
are a limited number of suppliers of these raw nee The Company has no long-term contractstersupply of these raw materials. Any
delays or quality problems in connection with sfipaint raw materials, particularly photomask blgrdauld cause delays in the shipments of
photomasks, which could have a material adverseedin the Company's business and results of apesafl he fluctuation of foreign curre
exchange rates, with respect to prices of equipmedtraw materials used in manufacturing, could bésve a material adverse effect on the
Company's business and results of operations.




The Company faces risks associated with the use sfphisticated equipment and complex manufacturing @cesses and technologies.
The inability of the Company to effectively utilizesuch equipment and perform such processes and teadlogies could have a material
adverse effect on its business and results of op¢icns.

The Company's complex manufacturing processesnethé use of expensive and technologically sojghistd equipment and materials,
and are continually modified in an effort to impeomanufacturing yields and product quality. Minmgurities, defects or other difficulties
the manufacturing process can lower manufacturielgly and make products unmarketable. Moreover ufaaturing leading-edge
photomasks is more complex and time consuming tiamufacturing less advanced photomasks, and mdydedelays in the manufacturing
of all levels of photomasks. The Company has, a@asion, experienced manufacturing difficulties aagacity limitations that have delayed
the Company's ability to deliver products withie time frames contracted for by its customers. Company cannot provide assurance th
will not experience these or other manufacturirf§jailties, or be subject to increased costs odpation capacity constraints in the future,
any of which could result in a loss of customersauld otherwise have a material adverse effeétsdpusiness and results of operations.

The Company's debt agreements limit its ability taobtain financing and may obligate the Company to rpay debt before its maturity.

Financial covenants related to the Company’s cffeditity include Total Leverage Ratio, a Minimurix&d Charge Ratio, and Minimum
Unrestricted Cash Balances. Existing covenanticgisins limit the Company's ability to obtain addital debt financing and, should
Photronics be unable to meet one or more of thegenants, its lenders may require the Companypayrany outstanding balance prior to
the expiration date of the agreements. The Comgpafylity to comply with the financial and othervemants in its debt agreements may be
affected by worsening economic or business condtior other events. The Company cannot assuradkiiional sources of financing woi
be available to pay off any long-term borrowingsas to avoid default. Should the Company defaultertain of its long-term borrowings, a
cross default would occur on other long-term boimgs, unless amended or waived.

The Company's future acquisitions may entail certai operational and financial risks.

The Company has made significant acquisitions tinout its history. The Company may make additi@eaguisitions in the future.
Acquisitions place significant demands on the Camyfsaadministrative, operational and financial paerel and systems. Managing acquired
operations entails numerous operational and fimdmisks, including difficulties in the assimilati@f acquired operations, diversion of
management's attention from other business conamarsaging assets in multiple geographic regioeterdhining values of acquired
intangible assets and the potential loss of keyleyegs of acquired operations. Sales of acquiredatipns may decline following an
acquisition, particularly if there is an overlaponfstomers served by the Company and the acquireition, and these customers transitic
another vendor in order to ensure a second sofisigpply. Furthermore, the Company may be requadilize its cash reserves and/or i<
new securities to fund future acquisitions, whioluld have a dilutive effect on its earnings persha

The Company's cash flows from operations and curretrholdings of cash may not be adequate for its cuent and long-term needs.

The Company's liquidity is highly dependent orsdges volume and the timing of its capital expamds, (which can vary significantly
from period to period), as it operates in a higledi cost environment. Depending on conditions éengemiconductor and FPD markets, the
Company's cash flows from operations and curreldiigs of cash may not be adequate to meet it€otiend long-term needs for capital
expenditures, operations and debt repayments. ritially, in certain years, the Company has usedresl financing to fund these needs. Due
to conditions in the credit markets and covenastriaions on its existing debt, some financingrmsients used by the Company in the past
may not be available to it. Therefore, the Compeeanynot provide assurance that additional sourcésaricing would be available to it on
commercially favorable terms, if at all, shoulddtssh requirements exceed its cash available fymerations, existing cash, and cash avalil
under its credit facility.
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The Company may fail to realize projected benefitselated to its fiscal 2012 restructuring in Singapee or, it may incur unforeseen
charges related to any other possible future factly closures or restructurings.

In order to lower its operating costs and incraessmanufacturing efficiencies, in December 2014 @ompany ceased the manufactul
photomasks at its facility in Singapore. Howevke €ompany cannot assure that this action willltésits realizing the projected benefits
related to this restructuring. The Company alsmoaprovide assurance that there will not be aoldi facility closures or other
restructurings in the near or long-term, nor caasgure that it will not incur significant chargslsould there be any additional future facility
closures or restructurings.

The Company operates in a highly competitive envinement and, should it be unable to meet its customs’rrequirements for product
quality, timeliness of delivery or technical capalities, its sales could be adversely affected.

The photomask industry is highly competitive, anastrof the Company's customers utilize more thangrotomask supplier. The
Company's competitors include Compugraphics, Dai,Nippon Printing Co., Ltd., Hoya Corporation, $tectronics Co., Ltd., Taiwan
Mask Corporation and Toppan Printing Co., Ltd. T@npany also competes with semiconductor manufacturaptive photomask
manufacturing operations, some of which market theotomask manufacturing services to outside costs. The Company expects to face
continued competition from these and other suppiiethe future. Many of the Company's competitage substantially greater financial,
technical, sales, marketing and other resourcesitleas. Also, when producing smaller geometrytphmasks, some of the Company's
competitors may be able to more rapidly developdpce, and achieve higher manufacturing yields thartCompany. The Company belie
that consistency of product quality and timelinekdelivery, as well as price, technical capabjland service are the principal factors
considered by customers in selecting their phot@&resappliers. The Company's inability to meet thespiirements could have a material
adverse effect on its business and results of tipag In the past, competition led to pressurnesthuce prices which, the Company believes,
contributed to the decrease in the number of indeé@et photomask suppliers. This pressure to regrices may continue in the future.

The Company's substantial international operationsare subject to additional risks.

Sales from the Company'’s international operationgere approximately 70%, 69% and 71% of the Comgamst sales in fiscal 2012,
2011 and 2010, respectively. The Company belidvatsmaintaining significant international operasorquires it to have, among other
things, a local presence in the geographic matketsit supplies. This requires significant investits in financial, managerial, operational,
and other resources. Since 1996, the Company ¢aisicantly expanded its operations in internatiamarkets by acquiring existing
businesses in Europe, acquiring majority equitgriests in photomask manufacturing operations ireKk@nd Taiwan and building a new
manufacturing facility for FPD photomasks in Taiwdihe Company, in order to enable it to optimizdiitvestments and other resources,
closely monitors the semiconductor and FPD manufang markets for indications of geographic movetraerd, in conjunction with these
efforts, continues to assess the locations of #sufacturing facilities. These assessments maytiaste opening or closing of facilities.

Operations outside of the United States are sulgdoherent risks, including fluctuations in exolya rates, unstable political and
economic conditions in various countries, unexpécteanges in regulatory requirements, tariffs ahertrade barriers, difficulties in staffil
and managing international operations, longer autsoreceivable payment cycles and potentially asbvéax consequences. These factors
have a material adverse effect on the Companylisyaioi generate sales outside of the United Statel consequently, on its business and
results of operations.

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates could ia a material adverse effect on the Company's regslof operations, financial
condition or cash flows.

The Company's financial statements are preparaddardance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States of
America (U.S. GAAP) and are reported in U.S. dsllathe Company's operations have transactions @addes denominated in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar, primarily the Koreannwblew Taiwan dollar, Japanese yen, Singaporerdellao, and the pound sterling. In fis
2012, the Company recorded a net gain from changeseign currency exchange rates of $0.2 millioits statement of income, while its
net assets were increased by $5.8 million as dt refsilne translation of foreign currency financsatements to U.S. dollars. In the event of
significant foreign currency fluctuations, the Caang's results of operations, financial conditiorcash flows may be adversely affected.
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The Company's business depends on managerial andkical personnel, who are in great demand, and itsability to attract and
retain qualified employees could adversely affeche Company's business and results of operations.

The Company's success depends, in part, upon keggagal, engineering and technical personnel,edkas its ability to continue to
attract and retain additional qualified personiiék loss of certain key personnel could have a mahtedverse effect upon the Company's
business and results of operations. There can sswance that the Company can retain its key gesiad, and technical employees, or that
it can attract similar additional employees in fingire.

The Company may be unable to enforce or defend itsvnership and use of proprietary technology, and té utilization of unprotected
Company developed technology by its competitors ctibadversely affect the Company's business, results operations and financial
position.

The Company believes that the success of its bssithepends more on its proprietary technologyrinéion and processes, and know-
how than on its patents or trademarks. Much gfiiggrietary information and technology related tanmfacturing processes is not patented
and may not be patentable. The Company cannot aéfrrance that:

« it will be able to adequately protect its techngiog
« competitors will not independently develop similachnology; or
« international intellectual property laws will adedely protect its intellectual property rights.

The Company may become the subject of infringerakaims or legal proceedings by third parties wehpect to current or future
products or processes. Any such claims, with oheut merit, or litigation to enforce or protectim¢ellectual property rights, or that require
the Company to defend itself against claimed igiegiments of the rights of others, could result inssantial costs, diversion of resources, and
product shipment delays or could force the Comparsnter into royalty or license agreements, ratih@n dispute the merits of these claims.
Any of the foregoing could have a material adveffect on the Company's business, results of opasatind financial position.

The Company may be unprepared for changes to envirenental laws and regulations and may incur liabilites arising from
environmental matters.

The Company is subject to numerous environmenta nd regulations that impose various environnieotatrols on, among other
things, the discharge of pollutants into the ait aater and the handling, use, storage, disposhtiaan-up of solid and hazardous wastes.
Changes in these laws and regulations may haveaexiaiaadverse effect on the Company's financiaitpm and results of operations. Any
failure by the Company to adequately comply witkst laws and regulations could subject it to siggnitt future liabilities.

In addition, these laws and regulations may impbesan-up liabilities on current and former ownend aperators of real property as well
as parties who arrange for the disposal of hazardabstances at offte locations owned or operated by others, withegéard to fault, so th
these liabilities may be joint and several withestparties. In the past, the Company has beenviadah remediation activities related to its
properties. The Company believes, based upon durmemmation, that environmental liabilities rateg to these activities or other matters are
not material to its financial position or operagorlowever, there can be no assurances that th@&@ugnwill not incur any material
environmental liabilities in the future.

The Company's production facilities could be damageor disrupted by a natural disaster or labor strike, either of which could
adversely affect its financial position, results obperations and cash flows.

A major catastrophe, such as an earthquake or ottteral disaster, labor strike, or work stoppageng manufacturing facility of the
Company, its suppliers, or its customers, couldltés a prolonged interruption of the Company’simgss. A disruption resulting from any
one of these events could cause significant défaglipments of the Company's products and thedbsales and customers, which could
have a material adverse effect on the Companyasidial position, results of operations, and casWgl The Company's facilities in Taiwan
are located in a seismically active area.
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The Company's sales can be impacted by the healtiné stability of the general economy, which could agersely affect its results of
operations and cash flows.

Unfavorable general economic conditions in the Wrather countries in which the Company or itsteogers conduct business may h
the effect of reducing the demand for photomaskenBmic downturns may lead to a decrease in derfwarahd products whose
manufacturing processes involve the use of photkmaghich may result in a reduction in new prodiesign and development by
semiconductor manufacturers, and adversely affec€ompany’s results of operations and cash flows.

Additional taxes could adversely affect the Company financial results.

The Company's tax filings are subjected to auditasyauthorities in the various jurisdictions iniathit does business. These audits may
result in assessments of additional taxes thaswisequently resolved with the authorities or tgtothe courts. Currently, the Company
believes there are no outstanding assessments wdsrdation would result in a material adverseritial result. However, the Company
cannot offer assurances that unasserted or pdtaritiee assessments would not have a materialrae\effect on its financial condition or
results of operations.

The Company's business could be adversely impactég global or regional catastrophic events.

The Company's business could be adversely affdsteerrorist acts, major natural disasters, wideag@routbreaks of infectious diseases,
or the outbreak or escalation of wars, especialhé Asian region, where the Company generat@miisant portion of its sales, and in
Japan where it purchases raw materials and cagjtapment. Such events in the geographic regiomsioh the Company does business,
including escalations of political tensions anditaily operations within the Korean Peninsula, wheraajor portion of the Company's fore
operations are located, could have material advergacts on its sales volume, cost of raw materiaksults of operations, cash flows and
financial condition.

Technology failures or cyber security breaches codlhave a material adverse effect on the Company’sperations.

The Company relies on information technology systémprocess, transmit, store, and protect eleictinformation. For example, a
significant portion of the communications betwele® €Company’s personnel, customers, and suppligesndis on information technology.
Information technology systems of the Company mayuinerable to a variety of interruptions duevergs beyond its control including, but
not limited to, natural disasters, terrorist atdklecommunications failures, computer virusaskhrs, and other security issues. The
Company has technology and information securitg@sses and disaster recovery plans in place tgatstits risk to these vulnerabilities.
However, these measures may not be adequate treghatiits operations will not be disrupted, sdaach an event occur.

Servicing the Company's debt requires a significanamount of cash, and the Company may not have sutfent cash flows from its
operations to pay its indebtedness.

The Company's ability to make scheduled paymengebf principal and interest or to refinance ideibtedness depends on its future
performance, which is subject to economic, finalncampetitive and other factors beyond the Com{sacgntrol. The Company's business
may not continue to generate sufficient cash flinem operations in the future to both service ebtdand make necessary capital
expenditures. If the Company is unable to genesaté cash flows, it may be required to adopt onaare alternatives, such as selling as:
restructuring debt or obtaining additional equigpital on terms that may be onerous or highly dieitThe Company's ability to refinance its
indebtedness will depend upon the conditions irct@tal markets and the Company's financial camtiat such time. The Company may
be able to engage in any of these activities oagagn these activities on desirable terms, whakldcresult in a default on its debt
obligations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The following table presents certain informatiomaithe Company's photomask manufacturing faglitie

Type of
Location Interest
Allen, Texas Owned
Boise, Idahc Owned
Brookfield, Connecticu Owned
Bridgend, South Wale Leasec
Cheonan, Kore Owned
Dresden, German Leasec
Hsinchu, Taiwar Leasec
Singapore Leasec (1)
Taichung, Taiwal Owned 2

(1) The Company ceased the manufacturing of photonstsks Singapore facility in December 20.
(2) The Company owns its manufacturing facility inchaing, however, it leases the related le

The Company believes that its existing manufactufacilities are suitable and adequate for its gmepurposes. The Company also
leases various sales offices. The Company's admntiie headquarters are located in Brookfield, i@mticut, in a building that it owns.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is subject to various claims that antbe ordinary course of business. The Compatigu®s such claims, individually or
in the aggregate, will not have a material effectiee business of the Company.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Common Stock of the Company is traded on th&DAQ Global Select Market ("NASDAQ") under the syohBPLAB. The table
below shows the range of high and low sale priggsphare of each quarter for fiscal years 2012281d, as reported by the NASDAQ
Global Select Market.

High Low

Fiscal Year Ended October 28, 201Z

Quarter Ended January 29, 2( $ 7.6 $ 4.98

Quarter Ended April 29, 201 7.7C 5.8C

Quarter Ended July 29, 20: 6.72 5.3¢

Quarter Ended October 28, 20 6.4~ 4.8
Fiscal Year Ended October 30, 2011

Quarter Ended January 30, 2( $ 728 $ 5.68

Quarter Ended May 1, 20: 10.1¢ 6.47

Quarter Ended July 31, 20: 10.1: 7.4€

Quarter Ended October 30, 20 7.9¢ 4.5¢

On December 31, 2012, the closing sale price oCtimmon Stock per the NASDAQ Global Select Markas5.96. Based on
information available to the Company, the Compaghebes it has approximately 11,000 shareholders.

The Company, to date, has not paid any cash didiglen PLAB shares and, for the foreseeable fuamgégipates that earnings will
continue to be retained for use in its businesgthey, the Company's credit facility precludeganh paying cash dividends.

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans
The information regarding the Company's equity cengation required to be disclosed by Item 201(dedulation S-K is incorporated

by reference from the Company's 2013 definitivexi1i8tatement into Item 12 of Part Il of this repdrhe 2013 Proxy Statement will be fi
within 120 days after the Company’s fiscal yearesh@ctober 28, 2012.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data is deriveshfrthe Company's audited consolidated financiaéstants. The data should be read in
conjunction with the audited consolidated finansialtements and notes thereto and other finamd@ination included elsewhere in this
Form 10-K (in thousands, except per share amounts).

Year Ended
October 28 October 30 October 31 November 1 November 2
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
OPERATING DATA:
Net sales $ 450,43¢ $ 512,02 $ 425,55 $ 361,35 $ 422,54
Cost and expense
Cost of sale: (338,519 (375,80¢) (333,739 (304,28) (349,84)
Selling, general and
administrative (46,70¢) (45,240 (42,38 (41,167 (55,167
Research and developmt (29,379 (15,507 (14,93) (15,427 (17,47
Consolidation, restructurir
and related (charges)
credits (1,42¢) (a) - 4,97¢e) (13,559 (9) (510 ()
Impairment of long-lived
assets - - - (1,458 (h) (66,874 (k)
Impairment of goodwil - - - - (138,539 (I)
Gain on sale of facility - - - 2,034 -
Operating income (los! 44,41" 75,467 39,47¢ (12,495 (205,85
Other income (expense
Interest expens (7,489 (7,259 (9,47%) (22,407 (11,879
Interest and other incon
(expense), ne 3,721 (b) 2,94¢ (c) 2,55%(f) (2,209 (i) 5,56:
Debt extinguishment loss - (35,259 (d) - - -
Income (loss) before incom
tax (provision) benefi 40,64¢ 35,89¢ 32,55 (37,109 (212,169
Income tax (provision) bene (10,799 (15,69) (7,477) (4,327) 2,77¢
Net income (loss 29,85t (a) (b) 20,20¢(c) (d) 25,08(e) () (41,427 (g) (h) (i) (209,39) (j) (k) ()
Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests (1,987) (3,979 (1,160 (48%) (1,379
Net income (loss) attributab
to Photronics, Inc.
shareholders $ 2786i(a)(b) $ 16,22¢(c)(d$ 23,924e)(H$ (41,910 (g)(h) ()$ (210,769 (j) (k) (I
Earnings (loss) per shai
Basic $ 0.4€(a) (b) $ 0.2¢(c) (d) $ 0.45e) NS (0.979) (@) () (S (5.00) () (k) ()
Diluted $ 0.44(a) (b) $ 0.2¢(c) (d) $ 0.45e) N$ 099 (s (5.06) () (k) ()
Weighted-average number
common shares
outstanding
Basic 60,05¢ 57,03( 53,43 43,21( 41,65¢
Diluted 76,46¢ 58,45¢ 65,801 43,21( 41,65¢
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BALANCE SHEET DATA

As of
October 28, October 30,  October 31, November 1, November 2,
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Working capital $ 234,28. $ 209,30t $ 86,57 $ 89,54: $ 66,41¢
Property, plant and equipment, | 380,80t 368,68( 369,81 347,88t 436,52¢
Total asset 849,23: 817,85: 703,87¢ 663,65t 758,00°
Long-term debt 168,95¢ 152,57 78,85: 112,13 202,97¢
Equity 586,00: 559,75t 495,94 449,69¢ 432,39¢
(a) Includes consolidation and restructuring chargf $1.4 million in connection with the discont@mce of manufacturing operations at
the Company's Singapore facili
(b) Includes non-cash gain of $0.1 million in ceantion with subsequent measurement at fair valweaofants issued to purchase the
Compan’s common stock
(c) Includes non-cash charge of $0.4 million immection with subsequent measurement at fair v@lwearrants issued to purchase the
Compan’s common stock
(d) Includes losses recorded in connection wighabquisition of $35.4 million face amount of then@pany’s 5.5% convertible senior
notes, in exchange for 5.2 million shares of isown stock and cash of $22.9 millic
(e) Includes consolidation and restructuring deedf $5.0 million in connection with the closuretioe Company's Shanghai, China,
facility.
() Includes non-cash charge of $0.9 million imnection with subsequent measurement at fair v@fluearrants issued to purchase the

Company's common stoc

(9) Includes consolidation and restructuring ckargf $13.6 million in connection with the closuodshe Company's Shanghai, China,
and Manchester, U.K., manufacturing faciliti

(h) Includes impairment charge of $1.5 million relatedhe Company's Manchester, U.K., manufacturingifg

0] Includes non-cash charge of $0.3 million imnection with subsequent measurement at fair v@fluearrants issued to purchase the

Company's common stoc

)] Includes consolidation and restructuring cleagrgf $0.5 million in connection with the closuffalte Company's Manchester, U.K.,
manufacturing facility

(k) Includes impairment charge of $66.9 million forte@r lon¢-lived assets in Asia and Euroj

()] Includes impairment of goodwill charge of $138.5liom.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Results of Operations for the Years Ended October& 2012, October 30, 2011 and October 31, 2010
Overview

The Company sells substantially all of its photoksat® semiconductor designers and manufacturegsimeamufacturers of FPDs.
Photomask technology is also being applied to @hei¢ation of other higher performance electromdpicts such as photonics, micro-
electronic mechanical systems and certain nanotéagy applications. Thus, the Company's sellingeyg tightly interwoven with the
development and release of new semiconductor desiga flat panel applications, particularly azlates to the semiconductor industry's
migration to more advanced design methodologiedamication processes. The Company believes higati¢mand for photomasks primai
depends on design activity rather than sales vadunoen products manufactured using photomask tdogies. Consequently, an increase in
semiconductor or FPD sales does not necessariljt irsa corresponding increase in photomask salesiever, the reduced use of
customized ICs, reductions in design complexitheotthanges in the technology or methods of matwriag or designing semiconductors,
or a slowdown in the introduction of new semicortduor FPD designs could reduce demand for photksnagen if demand for
semiconductors and FPDs increases. Advances ircgrchictor, FPD and photomask design and semicooidact FPD production methods
could also reduce the demand for photomasks. Hiisdty, the semiconductor industry has been vaatitith sharp periodic downturns and
slowdowns. These downturns have been charactdmizemimong other things, diminished product demardess production capacity and
accelerated erosion of selling prices.
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The global semiconductor industry, including molgiisplay devices, is driven by end markets whichehaeen closely tied to consumer
driven applications of high performance semicondudevices including, but not limited to, mobilenmmunications and computing solutions.
The Company is typically required to fulfill its stomer orders within a short period of time, somes within 24 hours. This results in the
Company having a minimal level of backlog ordeypjdally one to two weeks for IC photomasks and tathree weeks for FPD
photomasks. The Company cannot predict the timfrijeindustry's transition to volume productionneit generation technology nodes or
the timing of up and down cycles with precise aacyr but believes that such transitions and cywl#sontinue into the future, beneficially
and adversely affecting its business, financialdition and operating results in the near term. Thenpany believes its ability to remain
successful in these environments is dependent itpawchieving its goals of being a service andrnetbgy leader and efficient solutions
supplier, which it believes should enable it totommally reinvest in its global infrastructure.

The Company is focused on improving its competitegs by advancing its technology and reducing @slsin connection therewith,
has invested in manufacturing equipment to sergdiph-end market. The Company, in order to lowseoperating costs and increase its
manufacturing efficiencies, ceased the manufaafiphotomasks at its Singapore facility in Decen@t1.

As the Company continues to face challenges irctineent and near term that require it to contimumake significant improvements in
its competitiveness, it continues to evaluate frtost reduction initiatives.

As of December 2012 state-of-the-art productionrsfEmiconductor masks is considered to be 45 namoraet lower for ICs and
Generation 8 and above and AMOLED display basedga®technologies for FPDs. However, 65 nanomattabhove geometries for
semiconductors and Generation 7 and below, exdulMOLED, process technologies for FPDs constithtemajority of designs currently
being fabricated in volume. At these geometries,Gbompany can produce full lines of photomasksthack is no significant technology
employed by the Company's competitors that is nail@ble to the Company. The Company expects 45mater designs to continue to
move to wafer fabrication throughout fiscal 2013d &elieves it is well positioned to service arré@asing volume of this business as a result
of its investments in manufacturing processes aaldrology in the global regions where its custoraeedocated.

The photomask industry has been, and is expecteartinue to be, characterized by technologicahgkaand evolving industry
standards. In order to remain competitive, the Camypwill be required to continually anticipate,pead to, and utilize changing
technologies. In particular, the Company belietves, tas semiconductor geometries continue to besomadier, it will be required to
manufacture even more complex optically-enhancedes, including optical proximity correction aptiase-shift photomasks. Additionally,
demand for photomasks has been, and could in theefbe, adversely affected by changes in semiadgodand high performance electron
fabrication methods that affect the type or qugrdftphotomasks used, such as changes in semictumdlemand that favor field-
programmable gate arrays and other semiconducsigriethat replace application-specific ICs. Furtiare, increased market acceptance of
alternative methods of transferring circuit designg semiconductor wafers could reduce or elinginbhé need for photomasks in the
production of semiconductors. As of the end ofdi2012, one alternative method, direct-write Ighephy, has not been proven to be a
commercially viable alternative to photomasks,tas ¢onsidered too slow for high volume semiconduwafer production, and the Comp:
has not experienced a significant loss of revesug r@sult of this or other alternative semiconaiudesign methodologies. However, should
direct-write or any other alternative method ofisferring IC designs to semiconductor wafers withtha use of photomasks achieve market
acceptance, and the Company does not anticipaigomd to, or utilize these or other changing tetdgies due to resource, technological or
other constraints, its business and results ofatjpers could be materially adversely affected.

Both revenues and costs have been affected by¢hesised demand for high-end technology photontasksequire more advanced
manufacturing capabilities, but generally commaigthér average selling prices ("ASPs"). The Compaogpital expenditure payments
aggregated approximately $250 million for the thiiseal years ended October 28, 2012, resultirggnificant increases in operating
expenses. The Company intends to continue to niekeetjuired investments to support the technolbdiemands of its customers and
position itself for future growth, and expects ¢abéxpenditure payments to be between $70 mibiiodh $90 million in fiscal 2013.
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The manufacture of photomasks for use in fabrigal®s and other related products built using comiplgrphotomask-based process
technologies has been, and continues to be, capigalsive. The Company's integrated global manufang network, which consists of eight
manufacturing sites, and its employees repressigrificant portion of its fixed operating cost baShould sales volumes decrease as a resu
of a decrease in design releases from the Compaumstsmers, the Company may have excess or ungerdtproduction capacity that could
significantly impact operating margins, or resaltrite-offs from asset impairments.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2012 the Compargid $35 million to Micron in connection with itsizhase of the U.S. nanoFab facil
which it had been leasing from Micron under an apirg lease that was to end in December 2014. Tihehpse of the facility resulted in the
Company'’s outstanding operating lease commitmegitsgtreduced by a total of $15 million for fiscalays 2013 and 2014.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2012 the Compamgpnnection with its purchase of the U.S. nandBallity, amended its credit facility
(“the credit facility”) to include the addition @f $25 million term loan maturing in March 2017 witinimum quarterly principal payments of
$0.6 million (quarterly payments commenced in J20&2 and are based on a ten year repayment pefioellamendment also included a
twenty-five basis point reduction in the interestercharged on any borrowings under the credilitiacrhe credit facility bears interest (2.5%
at October 28, 2012), based on the Company’slmtalage ratio, at LIBOR plus a spread, as defindgle credit facility.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2012 the Companysezhthe manufacture of photomasks at its Singdpoiiy. This action, which was
substantially completed in fiscal 2012, resultethim Company recording restructuring charges of #iillion in fiscal 2012.

In 2012 the board of directors of PSMC authoriz&l/E to repurchase additional shares of its outstgncbmmon stock for retirement.
These repurchase programs resulted in 35.9 m#li@res being purchased for $15.6 million in theafigear ended October 28, 2012.
PSMC'’s repurchase of these shares increased thea&y's ownership percentage in PSMC from 62.25@atbber 30, 2011 to 72.09% as
of October 28, 2012. Subsequent to fiscal yed228SMC completed its most recent share repurgiraggam in November 2012 with the
repurchase of an additional 9.2 million sharesp#2 million, which increased the Company’s owngrsh PSMC to 75.11%.

In 2011 the board of directors of PSMC authoriz&E to repurchase shares of its outstanding constamk for retirement. These
repurchase programs resulted in 21.6 million shibeésg purchased for $9.9 million. PSMC's repusehaf these shares increased the
Company’s ownership percentage in PSMC from 57.88%ctober 31, 2010 to 62.25% as of October 301201

In the second quarter of fiscal 2011 the Compaswed, through a private offering pursuant to RdiéAlunder the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, $115 million aggregate prin@padunt of 3.25% convertible senior notes. The notatire on April 1, 2016, and note
holders may convert each $1,000 principal amounibtés to 96.3879 shares of common stock (equit/edeam initial conversion price of
$10.37 per share of common stock) at any time poidhe close of business on the second schedwadithgy day immediately preceding April
1, 2016. The conversion rate is subject to adjustrapon the occurrence of certain events, whicldaseribed in the indenture dated March
28, 2011. The Company is not required to redeenmdtes prior to their maturity date. Interest om tiotes accrues in arrears, and is paid
semiannually through the notes’ maturity date.regepayments on the notes commenced on Octol2€11, The net proceeds of the notes
were approximately $110.7 million, which were usiedyart, to repurchase $35.4 million of the Compsu.5% convertible senior notes,
which were to mature in October 2014, and to payil, its then outstanding obligations under talgdeases of $19.8 million.

In the second and third quarters of fiscal 2011Gbepany, in two separate transactions, acquiréd$8illion of its 5.5% convertible
senior notes in exchange for 5.2 million shareissaéfommon stock, with a fair value of $45.7 mitliand cash of $22.9 million (the note
holders received 147.529 shares and cash of $64&é&th $1,000 note). The Company, in connectioh thiése transactions, recorded
extinguishment losses of $35.1 million, which irded the writesff of deferred financing fees of $2.0 million. Thesses are included in ott
income (expense) in the Company’s consolidate@stants of income.

19




Results of Operations

The following table presents selected opegatiformation expressed as a percentage of net:sale

Year Ended
October 28,  October 30, October 31,
2012 2011 2010
Net sales 100.% 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of sales (75.7) (73.9) (78.9
Gross margir 24.¢ 26.¢€ 21.€
Selling, general and administrative exper (10.9 (8.9 (10.0
Research and development exper 4.3 (3.0 (3.5
Consolidation, restructuring and related (chargesdlits (0.3 - 1.2
Operating incom 9.¢ 14.7 )2
Interest expens 2.7 (1.9 (2.3
Interest and other income (expense), 0.8 0.€ 0.€
Debt extinguishment loss - (6.9) -
Income before income tax provisi 9.C 7.C 7.€
Income tax provision (2.9 (3.1 (1.7)
Net income 6.€ 3.¢ 5.¢
Net income attributable to noncontrolling intere (0.9 (0.8) (0.3
Net income attributable to Photronics, Inc. shaledrs 6.2% 3.1% 5.6%

Note: All the following tabular comparisons, unless othise indicated, are for the fiscal years ended mt@8, 2012 (2012), October
30, 2011 (2011) and October 31, 2010 (2010), itiong of dollars.

Net Sales
Percent Change
2011to 2010to
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011
IC $ 350.1 $ 3912 % 329.¢ (10.5% 18.6%
FPD 100.: 120.¢ 95.¢ (17.0) 26.2
Total net sales $ 450.. $ 512.( $ 425.¢ (12.0% 20.2%

Net sales for 2012 decreased 12.0% to $450.4 midixcompared to $512.0 million for 2011, primadle to reduced photomask
demand as a result of a general slowdown in thécesmuiuctor industry, although high-end IC unit dexhaand revenues increased. Revenues
attributable to high-end products increased by ®&ilRon to $173 million, as high-end revenues f@rihcreased by $15 million to $110
million, which were partially offset by a $3 millioreduction in high-end FPD revenues to $63 nmillidainstream IC and FPD revenues
decreased in 2012 as compared to 2011 as a résl@dtieases in both unit demand and average seltings (ASPs). High-end photomask
applications, which typically have higher ASPs Jugle photomask sets for IC products using 45 natemasad below technologies, and for
FPD products using Generation 8 and above and AMDidehnologiesBy geographic area, net sales in 2012 as compear2ditl decreast
by $32.8 million or 10.7% in Asia, decreased by.82Rillion or 14.5% in North America, and decreabgds6.0 million or 12.8% in Europe.
As a percent of total sales in 2012, sales were BlA&ia, 30% in North America and 9% in Europe.
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Net sales for 2011 increased 20.3% to $512.0 mikis compared to $425.6 million for 2010. The inseewas primarily related to
increased high-end IC and FPD sales, mainly reguftom increased unit demand and ASPs for both-kigd ICs and FPDs. FPD sales
increased primarily as a result of increased ugmand for high-end products. Sales of high-endH@@masks increased to $95 million in
2011 as compared to $37 million in 2010, and safldégh-end FPD photomasks increased to $67 millio2011 as compared to $37 million
in 2010. By geographic area, net sales in 201 bawpared to 2010 increased by $47.4 million or 18i8%sia, increased by $34.3 million or
27.7% in North America, and increased by $4.8 omillor 11.4% in Europe. As a percent of total seleZ)11, sales were 60% in Asia, 319
North America and 9% in Europ

Gross Margin

Percent Change

2011 to 2010to
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011
Gross margir $ 111.¢ % 136.2 $ 91.¢ (17.9% 48.2%

Gross margin ¢ 24.%% 26.6% 21.6%

Gross margin percentage decreased to 24.9% inf21h226.6% in 2011, primarily due to a decreassailes in 2012 as compared to
2011. The Company operates in a high fixed cosremment and, to the extent that the Company'smes®e and utilization increase or
decrease, gross margin will generally be positieglpegatively impacted. Gross margin percentageeased to 26.6% in 2011 from 21.6%
2010. This increase was primarily due to increasdes volume, including high-end photomasks whygically have higher ASPs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Percent Change
2011 to 2010to
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011

S,G&A expense $ 6.1 % 452 % 42.4 3.2% 6.7%
% of net sale 10.4% 8.% 10.(% - -

Selling, general and administrative expenses iseday $1.5 million to $46.7 million in 2012, aswmared to 2011, and increased by
$2.8 million to $45.2 million in 2011 as compared2010. These increases were primarily relateddreased employee compensation and
selling-related expenses.

Research and Development

Percent Change

2011 to 2010 to
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011
R&D expense $ 194 158 § 14.¢ 24.%% 3.6%

% of net sale 4.2% 3.C% 3.5% - -

Research and development expenses consist princhdlpbal development efforts related to high-@nolcess technologies for advanced
sub-wavelength reticle solutions for IC technolegi@esearch and development expenses increasekB. Dynillion to $19.4 million in 2012,
as compared to 2011, primarily due to increaseigiies at advanced nanometer technology nodekX¥a@nd FPD photomasks. Research
and development expenses did not change significen?011 as compared to 2010.
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Consolidation, Restructuring and Related Charges (Credits)

2012 2011 2010
Employee terminations and otf $ 11 - 8 0.2
Asset writ-downs 0.2 - -
Net gain on sales of assi - - (5.2)
Total consolidation, restructuring and related gkear(credits) $ 14 $ - $ (5.0)

Singapore Facility

In the first quarter of fiscal 2012 the Companyseshthe manufacture of photomasks at its Singdpoilty and, in connection therewi
recorded charges of $1.4 million during fiscal 20T1Ris restructuring, which was comprised primaafyemployee termination costs, was
substantially completed in fiscal 2012.

Shanghai, China, Facility

Net restructuring credits of $5.0 million in 2010marily relate to the sale of the Company’s ShaigBhina, manufacturing facility. In
2009 the carrying value of this facility was writtdown to its estimated fair value at that timej an2010 the facility was sold for net
proceeds of $12.9 million, which exceeded its dagyalue and resulted in a gain of $5.4 millioatttvas recorded as a credit to the
restructuring reserve.

The Company continues to assess its global manufagtstrategy. This ongoing assessment couldtrestuture facility closures, asset
redeployments, workforce reductions, and the aafulitif increased manufacturing facilities, all ofigthwould be predicated on market
conditions and customer requirements.

Other Income (Expense)

2012 2011 2010
Interest expens $ (75 $ (7.2 $ (9.5
Interest and other income (expense), 3.7 2.¢ 2.€
Debt extinguishment loss - (35.9) -
Total other expense, net $ (3.9 $ (39.6) $ (6.9

Interest expense increased slightly in 2012, aspesed to 2011, primarily as a result of the teramlentered into in the second quarte
2012. Interest and other income (expense), ne¢dsed in 2012 as compared to 2011, primarilyrasualt of increased interest income on the
Company’s higher cash balances in 2012.

Interest expense decreased in 2011, as compa2&d @ primarily as a result of higher interest @bt being replaced with the 3.25%
convertible senior notes issued by the Companyancki 2011. In addition, in 2010, the Company wiadfeb1.0 million of deferred financir
fees, that was charged to interest expense, inetion with refinancing its credit facility. In&st and other income (expense), net, increasec
in 2011 as compared to 2010 primarily due to ineeeanvestment earnings on the Company’s highdr lsalances in 2011, lower non-cash
losses related to changes in the fair value ohgedf the Company’s common stock warrants anceaeed earnings on its equity method
investment, all of which were largely offset byddavorable foreign currency transaction results.
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In the second and third quarters of fiscal 201& ,Glompany acquired $35.4 million aggregate prid@pzount of its 5.5% convertible
senior notes by delivering $22.9 million in caskl &2 million shares of its common stock, with & f@&lue of $45.7 million. In connection
with these 2011 acquisitions the Company record&d tiebt extinguishment losses of $35.1 milliohjek included the write-off of $2.0
million of deferred financing fees. A portion ofetimet proceeds of the Company’s March 28, 201598.2onvertible senior notes offering
was used to repurchase these notes.

Income Tax Provision

2012 2011 2010
Income tax provisiol $ 10.e % 157 $ 7.5
Effective income tax rat 26.6% 43.7% 23.(%

The effective tax rate differs from the U.S. statytrate of 35% in fiscal year 2012 primarily deeathigher level of earnings being taxed
at lower statutory rates in foreign jurisdictiormmbined with the benefit of various investment @eih the foreign jurisdictions.

The effective tax rate differs from the U.S. statytrate of 35% in fiscal year 2011 primarily doete impact of the non-deductible debt
extinguishment losses and the impact of a foreigpsisliary tax settlement offset by a higher levied@rnings taxed at lower statutory rates in
foreign jurisdictions. Further, in Korea and in Wah, various investment tax credits have been dawmleich also reduced the Company’s
effective income tax rate in 2011.

The effective income tax rate differs from the Wsttutory rate of 35% in 2010 primarily due to tates being lower than the U.S. rat
other countries where the Company’s income is taXad Company, in 2010, also benefitted from thiezation of various investment tax
credits in Korea and Taiwan.

The Company considers all available evidence whketuating the potential future realization of iefefred tax assets and, when based
on the weight of all available evidence, it deteres that it is more likely than not that some portr all of its deferred tax assets will not be
realized, reduces its deferred tax assets by atiatuallowance. As a result of these evaluatitms yaluation allowance was increased
(decreased) by $2.5 million, $(8.2) million and Lfillion in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectivehjheTCompany also regularly assesses the
potential outcomes of ongoing and future examimeatiand, accordingly, has recorded accruals for santingencies.

PKLT, the Company's FPD manufacturing facility iaivan, has been accorded a tax holiday which cometeim 2012 and expires in
2017. In addition, the Company was accorded a ¢diddy in China which expired in 2011. The availéypiof these tax holidays did not have
a significant impact on the Company's decisiomtwease its Asian presence, which was in respenfsmtlamental changes that took plac
the semiconductor industry that the Company seiMesse tax holidays had no dollar or per shareetfe the 2012, 2011 or 2010 fiscal
years.

Net I ncome Attributable to Noncontrolling I nterests

Net income attributable to noncontrolling intered¢sreased to $2.0 million in 2012 as comparecdt6 fillion in 2011, primarily as a
result of decreased net income at PSMC, the Con'paonyn-wholly owned subsidiary in Taiwan, and fesser extent, due to PSMC'’s share
repurchase program (discussed below). Net incdtribuigable to noncontrolling interests increase®4.0 million in 2011 as compared to
$1.2 million in 2010, primarily as a result of iea@sed net income in 2012 at PSMC.

In 2012 and 2011 the board of directors of PSM@eauzed PSMC to repurchase shares of its outstgratimmon stock for
retirement. These repurchase programs resultgd.thmillion shares being purchased for $15.6 arilin 2012, and 21.6 million shares
being purchased for $9.9 million in 2011. PSM@purchase of these shares increased the Compamy&ship percentage in PSMC from
57.53% at October 31, 2010, to 62.25% as of Oct8BeR011, and to 72.09% at October 28, 2012. Nége 15 of the consolidated financial
statements for more information. The Company’s awinip percentage in its subsidiary in Korea wag@8throughout fiscal 2010 to fiscal
2012.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

October 28, October 30, October 31,
2012 2011 2010

(in millions) (in millions) (in millions)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 218.C $ 189.¢ $ 98.¢
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 132t % 136.¢ $ 95.¢
Net cash used in investing activiti $ (1119 $ (100.%) $ (58.2)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi $ 4€ $ 54t $ (32.9)

As of October 28, 2012, the Company had cash asid @quivalents of $218.0 million compared to $188iion as of October 30, 201
The Company's working capital increased $25.0 omltio $234.3 million at October 28, 2012, as coragao $209.3 million at October 30,
2011. The increase in working capital was primattiky result of cash generated from operations.ddrapany may use its cash available on
hand for operations, capital expenditures, detdysnts, strategic opportunities, stock repurchasesher corporate uses, any of which t
be material.

As of October 30, 2011, the Company had cash asitl @quivalents of $189.9 million compared to $98ilion as of October 31, 2010.
The Company's working capital increased $122.7ianillo $209.3 million at October 30, 2011, as coragdo $86.6 million at October 31,
2010. The increase in working capital was primattiky result of cash proceeds from the issuancé 5 #illion of 3.25% convertible senior
notes (of which a portion of the proceeds was tigedpay higher interest rate debt) and increaast generated from operating activities.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $3.3&illion in fiscal 2012, as compared to $136.6lionl in fiscal 2011. The decrease
was the result of less favorable, when adjustea fgignificant non-cash debt extinguishment logs @, year-over-year operating results,
which was partially offset by more cash generatedugh reduced accounts receivable and inventdanbas. Net cash provided by opera
activities was $136.6 million in fiscal 2011 as quared to $95.9 million in fiscal 2010 . The increagas the effect of improved year-over-
year operating results (excluding the effect ofribe-cash debt portion of the extinguishment loss) essalt of increased sales. Net cash
provided by operating activities increased to $98iion in fiscal 2010, as compared to $68.1 roifliin fiscal 2009, due to improved
operating results in fiscal 2010 as a result ofeased sales.

Net cash used in investing activities increasefltbl.9 million in fiscal 2012, as compared to $Z0fillion in fiscal 2011, due to
increased purchases of property, plant and equipmiich were partially offset by a decrease inaheunt of the Company’s year-ovezat
investment in the MP Mask joint venture. The irta@nts in the joint venture were primarily the fdesti capital calls made by the joint
venture. Net cash used in investing activitiessodl 2011 increased to $100.7 million, as comp&we®b8.2 million in 2010, primarily due to
increases in the Company'’s investment in MP Mask @&sult of capital calls, net proceeds from tide sf the Company’s former
manufacturing facility in Shanghai, China, whicklueed total net proceeds used in investing adivith fiscal 2010, and increased capital
expenditures in 2011. Capital expenditures for2b&2, 2011, and 2010 fiscal years were $97.0 mil&82.1 million, and $71.4 million,
respectively. The Company expects capital experalftayments for fiscal 2013 to range between $7omiand $90 million, primarily
related to investment in high-end IC manufactudagability.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $#i6ion in fiscal 2012, as compared to $54.5 mitlliprovided by financing activities in
fiscal 2011 and, in 2012, was primarily compriséthe proceeds of a $25 million term loan, that watered into by the Company in
connection with its purchase of the US nanoFabitigcivhich was partially offset by payments ftvetrepurchase common stock of PSMC
from noncontrolling interests and repayments omg{tarm borrowings. Net cash provided by financiotivities was $54.5 million in fiscal
2011 as compared to $32.4 million used in finan@ativities in fiscal 2010, and was primarily conspd of the net proceeds received from
the March 2011 issuance of 3.25% convertible semites, partially offset by the repayment of certather higher interest rate long-term
borrowings.
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In March 2011 the Company issued $115 million aggte principal amount of 3.25% convertible senimtes. The Company realized
net proceeds of $110.7 million from the issuancthefnotes, which mature on April 1, 2016, and cemoed paying interest semiannually on
October 1, 2011. During the three month period driday 1, 2011, the Company used $19.7 million efilet proceeds of the 3.25%
convertible senior notes and issued common stookorchase approximately $30.4 million principalcant of its 5.5% convertible senior
notes, and used an additional $19.8 million ofrteeproceeds to repay its outstanding obligatioweu capital leases. In June 2011 the
Company acquired an additional $5.0 million priratipmount of its outstanding 5.5% convertible seniates for $3.2 million and common
stock. The Company may use a portion of the reimginet proceeds of its 3.25% convertible senidesito repurchase additional amoun
its outstanding 5.5% senior convertible notes amaépital expenditure and working capital purposes

In March 2011 the Company and its lenders amendaévolving credit facility. Under the terms bEtamended credit facility, the total
amount available to the Company to borrow was reddmom $65 million to $30 million. The credit flity bears interest (2.50% at October
28, 2012), based on the Company'’s total leveraii® @t LIBOR plus a spread, as defined in the egnent. The credit facility is secured by
substantially all of the Company’s assets locatetthé United States, as well as common stock thepg2ay owns in certain of its foreign
subsidiaries, and is subject to financial covenantduding the following, as defined in the agresm minimum fixed charge ratio, total
leverage ratio and minimum unrestricted cash balame January 2011 a $10 million irrevocable sthpdetter of credit, which expired in
July 2011, for the purchase of manufacturing eqeipimvas issued under the credit facility. As ofdber 28, 2012, the Company was in
compliance with the covenants of its credit fagjlhad no outstanding borrowings under the creditify and $30 million was available for
borrowing.

In April 2011 the Company entered into a 5 yead,.32nillion capital lease of manufacturing equipmeRayments under the lease,
which bears interest at 3.09%, are $0.4 millionmpenth through March 2016. As of October 28, 2@ total lease amount payable
through the end of the lease term was $16.0 mjlliénvhich $15.2 million represented principal &#@8 million represented interest.

In February 2012 the Company paid $35 million t@idn in connection with the purchase of the U.®of@b facility. In connection
therewith, the Company amended its credit facititynclude the addition of a $25 million term loawaturing in March 2017, with minimum
quarterly principal payments of $0.6 million andartstanding balance of $23.8 million at OctoberZ®BL2. The amendment also included a
twenty-five basis point reduction in the interestercharged on any borrowings under the credilitiachs a result of the purchase of the U.S.
nanoFab facility, the Company’s lease agreemeitit Mitron for the U.S. nanoFab facility was canallehich reduced the Company’s
related outstanding operating lease commitments dgymbined total of $15 million for fiscal yeai313 and 2014.

In 2012 and 2011 the board of directors of PSM@euzed PSMC to repurchase shares of its outstgratimmon stock for
retirement. These repurchase programs resultgf.thmillion shares being repurchased for $15.6aniin 2012 and 21.6 million shares
being purchased for $9.9 million in 2011.

The Company's liquidity is highly dependent orsiides volume, cash conversion cycle, and the tirofrity capital expenditures (which
can vary significantly from period to period), asperates in a high fixed cost environment. Depandn conditions in the semiconductor
and FPD markets, the Company's cash flows fromatipers and current holdings of cash may not be @atecto meet its current and long-
term needs for capital expenditures, operationsdafd repayments. Historically, in certain yedng, Company has used external financing to
fund these needs. Due to conditions in the credikets, some financing instruments used by the Gommn the past may not be currently
available to it. The Company continues to evalfiatéaer cost reduction initiatives. However, thengany cannot assure that additional
sources of financing would be available to it omeogercially favorable terms, should its cash reqnésts exceed cash available from
operations, existing cash, and cash available utsleredit facility.

At October 28, 2012, the Company had outstandimgh@se commitments of $100 million, which inclu&8d million related to capital

expenditures, primarily for investment in high-d@dphotomask manufacturing capability. The Compiautgnds to finance its capital
expenditures with its working capital, cash geretdtom operations, and, if necessary, with adad#idorrowings.
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Cash Requirements

The Company's cash requirements in fiscal 2013beilprimarily to fund its operations, including ¢éapspending, and to service its de
The Company believes that its cash on hand, casdrgied from operations and amounts available utsleredit facility will be sufficient to
meet its cash requirements for the next twelve hmrithe Company regularly reviews the availabdityl terms on which it might issue
additional equity or debt securities in the pulsliqrivate markets. However, the Company cannatraghat additional sources of financing
would be available to the Company on commerciaiyofable terms, should the Company's cash requiresnesceed its cash available from
operations, existing cash, and cash available utsleredit facility.

Contractual Obligations
The following table presents the Company's conti@atbligations as of October 28, 2012:

Payment due by period

Less More

Than 1-3 3-5 Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Long-term borrowings $ 160,80: $ 2,500 $ 27,05¢ $ 131,25( $ =
Operating lease 4,39 1,60¢ 1,38¢ 844 55€
Capital lease 15,17¢ 4,52z 8,75¢ 1,89: -
Unconditional purchase obligatio 99,47, 86,31« 13,16: - -
Interest 18,29¢ 6,07¢ 10,12: 2,09¢ -
Other noncurrent liabilities 6,82: - 60= - 6,21¢
Total $ 304,97 $ 101,02: $ 61,09 $ 136,08 $ 6,774

As of October 28, 2012, the Company had an outstgrizhlance of $0.8 million for a loan from a custr which was not included in t
above table. The proceeds of the loan were uspdrtthase manufacturing equipment. This loan is &egeto be repaid with product suppl
to the customer, typically on a monthly basis, tielCompany estimates that the loan will be fudlpaid in fiscal 2013.

As of October 28, 2012, the Company had recordediats for uncertain tax positions of $1.9 milliwhich was not included in the
above table due to the high degree of uncertagggnding the timing of future payments relateduchdiabilities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Under the MP Mask joint venture operating agreemiardrder to maintain its 49.99% ownership intertreee Company may be required
to make additional capital contributions to thenjoienture up to the maximum amount defined ingjperating agreement. Cumulatively,
through October 28, 2012, the Company has con&th$82.5 million to the joint venture, and has nese distributions from the joint ventu
totaling $10.0 million. During fiscal 2012, the Cpamy contributed $13.0 million to MP Mask. The Ca@mp received no distributions from
MP Mask during fiscal 2012.

The Company leases certain office facilities andiggent under operating leases that may requicegay taxes, insurance and

maintenance expenses related to the propertiemiCef these leases contain renewal or purchasenspexercisable at the end of the lease
terms. See Note 9 to the consolidated financiaéstants for additional information on these operpteases.
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Business Outlook

A majority of the Company's revenue growth is expé¢o continue to come from the Asian region agamers increase their use of
manufacturing foundries located outside of Northekita and Europe. Additional revenue growth is alsticipated in North America, as the
Company expects to benefit from advanced technatoggay utilize under its technology license withdkbn. The Company's Korean and
Taiwanese operations are nhon-wholly owned subsidiand, therefore, a portion of earnings generatedch location is allocated to the
noncontrolling interests.

The Company continues to assess its global mamnufagtstrategy and monitor its market capitalizatisales volume and related cash
flows from operations. This ongoing assessmentdcsgult in future facility closures, asset redgpients, additional impairments of
intangible or long-lived assets, workforce reduasioor the addition of increased manufacturinglifes, all of which would be based on
market conditions and customer requirements.

The Company's future results of operations anather forward-looking statements contained in tiiisg involve a number of risks and
uncertainties. While various risks and uncertamtiave been discussed, a number of other unforéset®ns could cause actual results to
differ materially from the Company's expectations.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The Company's consolidated financial statementbased on the selection and application of accogmolicies, which require
management to make significant estimates and agsmapThe Company believes that the following ssme of the more critical judgment
areas in the application of the Company's accogrgoiicies that affect its financial condition argbults of operations.

Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statesméntonformity with accounting principles geneyalktcepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimatessmaingptions that affect amounts reported in thermddgament bases its estimates on
historical experience and on various assumptioatsate believed to be reasonable under the ciranoss. The Company's estimates are
based on the facts and circumstances availabhedime they are made. Changes in accounting astinuged are likely to occur from period
to period, which may have a material impact onpitesentation of the Company's financial conditiod eesults of operations. Actual results
reported by the Company may differ from such edtsiaThe Company reviews these estimates peribdivadl reflects the effect of revisic
in the period in which they are determined.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of the Company's 3.25% and 5.5%exifle senior notes are estimated by managenssscbupon reference to quoted
market prices and other available market infornmatiche fair values of the Company's cash and casiv&ents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable, certain other current assetswanent liabilities, and variable rate borrowinggpeoximate their carrying value due to their
short-term maturities.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, except as expldiedalv under "Impairment of Long-Lived Assets," atated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and amortization. Repairs and maimesaas well as renewals and replacements of ameouiature, are charged to operations as
incurred, while those that improve or extend thediof existing assets are capitalized. Upon sat¢h@r disposition, the cost of the asset and
accumulated depreciation are removed from the atspand any resulting gain or loss is reflectedamings.

Depreciation and amortization are computed usiegsthaight-line method over the estimated usefekliof the related assets. Buildings
and improvements are depreciated over 15 to 4Gyeachinery and equipment over 3 to 10 years amdkdire, fixtures and office
equipment over 3 to 5 years. Leasehold improvenametamortized over the life of the lease or thieneted useful life of the improvement,
whichever is less. Judgment and assumptions ackingstablishing estimated useful lives and deatien periods. The Company also uses
judgment and assumptions as it periodically revipreperty, plant and equipment for any potentigdamment in carrying values whene»
events such as a significant industry downturmtptéosures, technological obsolescence or othengds in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist primarily of a technolbiggnse agreement, a supply agreement and adgoistiated intangibles. These ass
except as explained below, are stated at fair vaduef the date acquired less accumulated amaotiza&mortization is calculated based on
the estimated useful lives of the assets, whicgedrom 3 to 15 years, using the straight-line métbr another method that more fairly
represents the utilization of the assets.

The Company periodically evaluates the remainirefuldives of its intangible assets to determineethler events or circumstances
warrant a revision to the remaining periods of aimation. In the event that the estimate of anrigthle asset’s remaining useful life has
changed, the remaining carrying amount of the witzdle asset is amortized prospectively over thasesl remaining useful life. If it is
determined that an intangible asset has an indefirseful life, that intangible asset would be sabjo impairment testing annually or
whenever events or circumstances indicate thatahging value may not, based on future undiscalingesh flows or market factors, be
recoverable, and an impairment loss would be rexbid the period so determined. The measuremeaheampairment loss would be based
on the fair value of the intangible asset.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenevents or changes in circumstances indicatetibacarrying amount of such
assets may not be recoverable. Determination ofvexability is based on the Company's judgmentestithates of undiscounted future cash
flows resulting from the use of the assets and #nentual disposition. Measurement of an impaitnhess for long-lived assets that
management expects to hold and use is based daitivalue of the assets. The carrying values sétssdetermined to be impaired are
reduced to their estimated fair values. Fair vahfabe impaired assets would generally be detezthirsing a market or income approach.

Investments in Joint Ventures

Investments in joint ventures over which the Conyplaas the ability to exercise significant influeraaed that, in general, are at least 20
percent owned are accounted for under the equithade An impairment loss would be recognized whenevdecrease in the value of such
an investment below its carrying amount is deteedito be other than temporary. In judging "othanttemporary,” the Company would
consider the length of time and the extent to wiiehfair value of the investment has been less tha carrying amount of the investment,
the near-term and longer-term operating and firdpebspects of the investee, and the Companyigeleterm intent of retaining its
investment in the investee.

Variable Interest Entities

The Company accounts for the investments it makesitain legal entities in which equity investdesnot have 1) sufficient equity at
risk for the legal entity to finance its activitiesthout additional subordinated financial suppant2) as a group, the holders of the equity
investment at risk do not have either the powegubh voting or similar rights, to direct the adiies of the legal entity that most significan
impact the entity’s economic performance or, 3)dhkgation to absorb the expected losses of thal lentity or the right to receive expected
residual returns of the legal entity. These ceragral entities are referred to as “variable indemmntities”, or “VIES”.

The Company would consolidate the results of amy @mtity in which it determined that it had a gofling financial interest. The
Company would have a “controlling financial intdféa such an entity if the Company had both thevpoto direct the activities that most
significantly affect the VIE's economic performaraed the obligation to absorb the losses of, dittig receive benefits from, the VIE that
could be potentially significant to the VIE. On aagterly basis, the Company reassesses whethas @ bontrolling financial interest in any
investments it has in these certain legal entities.

Income Taxes

The income tax provision is computed on the bafsie@various tax jurisdictions' income or lossdrefincome taxes. Deferred income
taxes reflect the tax effects of differences betwte carrying amounts of assets and liabilitiedifancial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for income tax purposes, as welleatatheffects of net operating losses and tax toadiyforwards. The Company uses
judgment and assumptions to determine if valuaitowances for deferred income tax assets are nedjuf their realization is not mo
likely than not, by considering future market grobwfiorecasted operations, future taxable income th@ amounts of earnings in the tax
jurisdictions in which it operate
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The Company considers income taxes in each ofthgitisdictions in which it operates in order &termine its effective income tax
rate. Current income tax exposure is identified tmdporary differences resulting from differingat@ents of items for tax and financial
reporting purposes are assessed. These differezmasin deferred tax assets and liabilities, Wwhace included in the Company's consolid
balance sheets. Additionally, the Company evaludiepotential realization of deferred income tageds from future taxable income and
establishes valuation allowances if their real@ais deemed not more likely than not. Accordingtgome taxes charged against earnings
may have been impacted by changes in the valuatiowances. Significant management estimates adghjent are required in determining
any valuation allowances recorded against net fdax assets.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positionssbgrding a liability for unrecognized tax bengfiesulting from uncertain tax
positions taken, or expected to be taken, in kse¢turns. The Company includes any applicabledésteand penalties related to uncertain tax
positions in its income tax provision.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when there is mvsuavidence that an arrangement exists, delivasyoccurred, the sales price is
fixed or determinable, and collectability is reaaloly assured. Delivery is determined by the shigpérms of the individual sales
transactions. For sales with FOB destination shigpérms, delivery occurs when the Company’s prodesches its destination and is
received by the customer. For sales with FOB shippioint terms, delivery occurs when the Compapy&luct is received by the common
carrier. The Company uses judgment when estim#ti@gffect on revenue of discounts and productamdyrobligations, both of which are
accrued when the related revenue is recognized.

Warranties and Other Post Shipment Obligatief®r a 30-day period, the Company warrants teatstsold will conform to customer
specifications. However, the Company’s liabilitfiirsited to the repair or replacement of the phadshks at its sole option. The Company
inspects photomasks for conformity to customer ifigations prior to shipment. Accordingly, custonmeturns of items under warranty have
historically been insignificant. However, the Camp records a liability for the insignificant amawf estimated warranty returns based on
historical experience. The Company’s specific refuplicies include accepting returns of producthwliefects, or products that have not been
produced to precise customer specifications. Atithe of revenue recognition, a liability is esfabkd for these items.

Share-based Compensation

The Company recognizes share-based compensatiengxpver the service period that the awards grectad to vest. Share-based
compensation expense includes the estimated efiéfisfeitures, which are adjusted over the reigiiservice period to the extent actual
forfeitures differ, or are expected to differ, frauch estimates. Changes in estimated forfeitusesegognized in the period of change and
will also impact the amount of expense to be retmghin future periods. Determining the approprigtéion pricing model, calculating the
grant date fair value of share-based awards anmdastg forfeiture rates requires considerable judgt, including the estimations of stock
price volatility and the expected term of optiomarged.

The Company uses the Bla8icholes option pricing model to value employeelstitions. The Company estimates stock price Jitie
based on daily averages of its historical volatitiver a term approximately equal to the estimétad period the grant will remain
outstanding. The expected term of options and itorke rate assumptions are derived from histoidedé.

Effect of Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05,dmtasion of Comprehensive Income (“ASU 2011-05"5WA2011-05 requires
companies to present the components of net incomi®ther comprehensive income either as one canimatatement or as two consecutive
statements. It eliminates the option to presentpmmants of other comprehensive income as parteoftdtement of changes in stockholders’
equity. ASU 2011-05 is effective for interim anchaial periods beginning after December 15, 201lisagplied retrospectively. The
Company has adopted this update and presentedtisollated Statements of Comprehensive Income diatedy following the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

There have been no recent accounting pronouncemiose adoption would affect the Company’s finanstiatements or related
disclosures.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

The Company records derivatives on the balance sisesssets or liabilities, measured at fair valiie Company does not engage in
derivative instruments for speculative purposesn&ar losses resulting from changes in the vatdiésose derivatives are reflected in
earnings, or as accumulated other comprehensioenieor loss, a separate component of equity, dépgod the use of the derivatives and
whether they qualify for hedge accounting. In orequalify for hedge accounting, among other datea derivative must be a hedge of an
interest rate, price, foreign currency exchange, ratt credit risk that is expected to be highlyeefive at the inception of the hedge, be highly
effective in achieving offsetting changes in thie ¥alue or cash flows of the hedged item during tiérm of the hedge and formally
documented at the inception of the hedge. The tgpesks that the Company has historically hedgegithose related to the variability of
future cash flows caused by movements in foreigneciey exchange and interest rates. The Companynakernats its risk management strat
and hedge effectiveness at the inception of, amaglthe term of, each hedge.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The Company conducts business in several majamiatienal currencies throughout its worldwide opierss and its financial
performance may be affected by fluctuations inekehange rates of these currencies. Changes imegetrates can positively or negatively
affect the Company's sales, operating marginstsadsbilities, and equity. The functional curréascof the Company's Asian subsidiaries are
the Korean won, New Taiwan dollar and the Singapiotiar. The functional currencies of the Compaiusopean subsidiaries are the
British pound and the euro.

The Company attempts to minimize its risk of foreaurrency transaction losses by producing its ypetslin the same country in which
the products are sold (thereby generating reveangésncurring expenses in the same currency), gmdanaging its working capital. In some
instances, the Company may sell or purchase preduet currency other than the functional curremicthe country where it was produced.
There can be no assurance that this approachamitiruie to be successful, especially in the evéatsignificant adverse movement in the
value of any foreign currency against the U.S.atoll

The Company's primary net foreign currency expasageof October 28, 2012, included the Korean wan,Japanese yen, the Singapore
dollar, the New Taiwan dollar, the British pounddahe euro. As of October 28, 2012, a 10% advwa®eement in the value of these
currencies against the U.S. dollar would have teduh a net unrealized pre-tax loss of $1.7 millibhe Company does not believe that a
10% change in the exchange rates of other@h-dollar currencies would have a material eféecits consolidated financial position, res
of operations, or cash flows.

Interest Rate Risk

At October 28, 2012, the Company had $23.8 miliiowariable rate borrowings. A 10% change in indérates would not have had a
material effect on the Company's consolidated firerposition, results of operations, or cash floawthe year ended October 28, 2012.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Photronics, Inc.
Brookfield, Connecticut

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Photronics, Inc. and subsidiaries'@oempany") as of October 28,
2012 and October 30, 2011, and the related corsstidstatements of income, comprehensive inconuétyeand cash flows for each of the
three fiscal years ended October 28, 2012, Oct8de?011, and October 31, 2010. We also have auttieeCompany's internal control over
financial reporting as of October 28, 2012, basedriteria established in Internal Control — Inteigd Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway ComimissThe Company's management is responsible é&setfinancial statements, for
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting, and for its assessment of the effeatss of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying Managensefstinual Report on Internal Control over Finan&8aporting in Item 9A. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements and an opinion on the Compangihal control over financial reporting
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &andbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement and whether effective internal cordvelr financial reporting was maintained in all exal respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basideace supporting the amounts and disclosures ifirthecial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estismatade by management, and evaluating the ovemaldial statement presentation. Our
audit of internal control over financial reportimgluded obtaining an understanding of internaltr@rover financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testitgeaaluating the design and operating effectiveéinternal control based on the assessed
risk. Our audits also included performing such ofhv@cedures as we considered necessary in thentstances. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial repagtis a process designed by, or under the supemvigi the company's principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pmrs performing similar functions, and effected by tompany's board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide realpasturance regarding the reliability of financedorting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princigdesompany's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies andcgdures that (1) pertain to the maintenance ofrdscihat, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and disposgiohthe assets of the company; (2) provide redsersssurance that transactions are recordec
as necessary to permit preparation of financiaéstants in accordance with generally accepted aticauprinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management anredtdrs of the company; and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usedisposition of the company's assets
that could have a material effect on the finansiatements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltconover financial reporting, including the posti of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatémdue to error or fraud may not be preventatktected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenesthe internal control over financial reportingftdgure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegreferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of
Photronics, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Octobe@&2 and October 30, 2011, and the results of tdparations and their cash flows for each
of the three fiscal years ended October 28, 20t®leer 30, 2011, and October 31, 2010, in confgrmith accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Als@unopinion, the Company maintained, in all mategeapects, effective internal control o
financial reporting as of October 28, 2012, basethe criteria established in Internal Control —telyrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission.

As discussed in Note 22 to the consolidated fireratatements, the Company has changed its mefirésenting comprehensive
income in fiscal year 2012 due to the adoptioninfRcial Accounting Standards Board Accounting 8#ads Update No. 2011-05,
Presentation of Comprehensive Income. The changeesentation has been applied retrospectivedyl fmeriods presented.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
January 9, 2013

32




Index

ASSETS

Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $3,902042 and $4,055 in 20

Inventories
Deferred income taxe
Other current assets

Total current asse

Property, plant and equipment, |
Investment in joint ventur
Intangible assets, n

Deferred income taxe

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Current portion of lon-term borrowings
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities

Total current liabilities
Long-term borrowings

Deferred income taxe
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci

Equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 2,000 share®dré#d, none issued and outstanc
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 150,000 shares ardidp 60,213 shares issued and outstanding at
October 28, 2012, and 59,651 shares issued anthodiisg at October 30, 20:

Additional paic-in capital
Retained earning

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Total Photronics, Inc. shareholders' eq|
Noncontrolling interest

Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.

PHOTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

October 28,
2012

October 30,
2011

218,04: 189,92¢
75,68 85,54(
17,70 22,10(

1,19¢ 60¢
7,16¢ 7,03(

319,79 305,20

380,80t 368,68
93,25: 79,98
37,38 42,46
11,39 11,23

6,601 10,28:
849,23 817,85:
7,781 5,585
53,03 54,77:
24,70; 35,54¢
85,51 95,90;
168,95t 152,57
661 737
8,10: 8,88:
263,23: 258,00t
602 597

493,41 486,67
41,47: 13,60
15,90 10,17

551,38 511,04
34,61 48,70¢

586,00; 559,75

849,23 817,85:
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PHOTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended
October 28,  October 30,  October 31,
2012 2011 2010

Net sales $ 450,43¢ $ 512,02( $ 425,55¢
Cost and expense

Cost of sale: (338,519 (375,80¢) (333,739

Selling, general and administrati (46,706 (45,240 (42,387

Research and developme (29,37) (15,507 (14,939

Consolidation, restructuring and related (chargesjlits (1,429 - 4,97¢

Operating incom 44,41¢ 75,467 39,47¢
Other income (expense

Interest expens (7,489 (7,259 (9,475

Interest and other income (expense), 3,721 2,94¢ 2,55

Debt extinguishment loss - (35,259 -
Income before income tax provisi 40,64¢ 35,89¢ 32,55
Income tax provision (10,797 (15,697 (7,477
Net income 29,85t 20,20¢ 25,08:
Net income attributable to noncontrolling intere (1,987 (3,979 (1,160
Net income attributable to Photronics, Inc. shalddrs $ 27,86¢ $ 16,22¢ $ 23,92:
Earnings per shar

Basic $ 0.4€ $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4F

Diluted $ 044 $ 028 $ 0.42
Weightec-average number of common shares outstan:

Basic 60,05¢ 57,03( 53,43

Diluted 76,46¢ 58,45¢ 65,801

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.
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PHOTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands)

Year Ended
October 28,  October 30,  October 31,
2012 2011 2010

Net income $ 29,85f $ 20,20¢ $ 25,08:
Other comprehensive income, net of tax of

Foreign currency translation adjustme 7,18¢ 3,261 16,57/

Amortization of cash flow hedc 12¢ 12¢ 12¢

Unrealized holding gain - - 20¢

Less: reclassification adjustmel - - (209)

Other (109) (35) (211)

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax 7,207 3,36( 16,49:

Comprehensive incorr 37,06: 23,56¢ 41,57

Less: comprehensive income attributable to nonodimg interests 3,38 4,19¢ 4,201

Comprehensive income attributable to Photronics, $hareholders $ 33,67 $ 19,37 $ 37,37

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsdsients.
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Balance at November 1, 200

Net income

Other comprehensive incor

Sale of common stock through employ:
stock option and purchase pl

Restricted stock awards vestings and
expense

Shar-based compensation expe!

Common stock warrants exercis

Common stock issuance costs

Balance at October 31, 201

Net income

Other comprehensive incor

Common stock issued to extinguish d

Sale of common stock through employ:
stock option and purchase pl

Restricted stock awards vestings and
expense

Sharebased compensation expel

Common stock warrants exercis

Repurchase of common stock by
subsidiary

Balance at October 30, 2011

Net income

Other comprehensive incor

Sale of common stock through employ:
stock option and purchase pl

Restricted stock awards vestings and
expense

Sharebased compensation expel

Common stock warrants exercis

Repurchase of common stock by
subsidiary

Balance at October 28, 201

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgtsients.

PHOTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Equity

Years Ended October 28, 2012, October 30, 2011 afdttober 31, 2010

(in thousands)

Retained Accumulated
Additional Earnings Other Non-
Common Stock Paid-In  (Accumulated Comprehensive Controlling Total
Shares  Amount Capital Deficit) Income (Loss) Interests Equity

53,01: $ 53C $ 432,16( $ (26,54¢) $ (6,389 $ 49,94 $ 449,69
- - - 23,92: - 1,16( 25,08

- - - - 13,45 3,041 16,49:

24z 2 52C - - - 522
58 1 50¢ - - - 51C

- - 1,374 - - - 1,374

46¢ 5 2,23t - - - 2,24C

- - 27 - - - 27
53,77¢ 53¢ 436,82! (2,629 7,06z 54,14; 495,94
- - - 16,22¢ - 3,97¢ 20,20¢

- - - - 3,14: 217 3,36(
5,22¢ 52 45,58¢ - - - 45,637
44C 5 851 - - - 85€
81 1 1,03t - - - 1,03¢

- - 1,42: - - - 1,42z

12z 1 1,155 - - - 1,15¢

- - (207) - (34) (9,629 (9,864
59,65 597 486,67 13,60¢ 10,17: 48,70¢ 559,75t
- - - 27,86¢ - 1,987 29,85t

- - - - 5,807 1,40( 7,207

271 3 542 - - - 54t
10¢ 1 901 - - - 90z

- - 2,25¢ - - - 2,25¢

177 1 1,051 - - - 1,05z

- 1,98¢ - (78) (17,487) (15,579
60,21; $ 60z $ 49341: $ 41,47 $ 15,90C $ 34,61f $ 586,00:
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PHOTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigem by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortization of property, pland aquipmen
Amortization of deferred financing costs and inthigasset:
Debt extinguishment los
Consolidation, restructuring and related chargesdfts)
Shar+based compensatic
Deferred income taxe
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Other current asse
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other
Net cash provided by operating activit
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of property, plant and equipn
Investment in joint ventur
Other
Proceeds from sale of facilities
Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from lor-term borrowings
Proceeds from convertible debt offeri
Repurchase of common stock by subsid
Repayments of lor-term borrowings
Proceeds from she-based arrangemer
Payments of deferred financing fe
Payments of expenses related to debt offering
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase in cash and cash equival

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosure of r-cash information
Accrual for property, plant and equipment purchasadng yeal
Deposit related to facility purcha
Capital lease obligation for purchases of propgugnt and equipmel
Common stock issued to extinguish d

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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Year Ended
October 28, October 30, October 31,
2012 2011 2010

$ 29,85 $ 20,20¢ $ 25,08:

78,62: 86,66 81,37«
6,58¢ 6,79¢ 8,92¢

- 27,39¢ -

262 - (5,05¢)
3,16( 2,45¢ 1,88:
(615) (224) 16¢€
11,19( (1,80€) (13,357
4,68: (6,544) (84)
(79) 227 (725)
(1,116) 1,37¢ (2,294)
132,54 136,55. 95,91¢
(96,97%) (82,127) (71,382)
(13,39)) (18,277) -
(1,56¢) (345) 28¢

- - 12,88(
(111,947 (100,73) (58,21%)
25,00 17,00( 41,68(
- 115,00( -
(15,59%) (9,87¢) -
(5,299 (64,107 (72,937
652 82¢ 81
(19¢) (117) (1,285)

- (4,201) -

4,56 54 52t (32,456)
2,94E 642 5,15¢
28,11 90,98: 10,40¢
189,92t 98,94 88,53¢

$ 218,041 $ 189,92¢ $ 98,94¢

$ 505 $ 6,86¢ $ 39,56(
2,00(¢ = -

- 21,24¢ -

= 20,23/ =
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PHOTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended October 28, 2012, October 30, 2011 afxdttober 31, 2010
(in thousands, except share amounts)

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business

Photronics, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "CompamyPhotronics") is one of the world's leadingmatacturers of photomasks, which
high precision photographic quartz plates contgimmcroscopic images of electronic circuits. Phaisks are a key element in the
manufacture of semiconductors and flat panel dysp{&FPDs"), and are used as masters to transfaricpatterns onto semiconductor wafers
and flat panel substrates during the fabricatiomt&grated circuits ("ICs") and a variety of FP&g, to a lesser extent, other types of
electrical and optical components. The Companyeciily operates principally from eight manufacturfagilities; two of which are located in
Europe, two in Taiwan, one in Korea, and thredhaWnited States. In December 2011 the Companyedeaanufacturing photomasks at its
facility in Singapore.

Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of Photronics, Inc. and itpnitg-owned subsidiaries that the
Company controls. All intercompany balances andsaations have been eliminated in consolidation.

Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assms it affect amounts reported in them. Actualltesnay differ from such estimates.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company records derivatives in the consolidatddnce sheets as assets or liabilities, meastifed value. The Company does not
engage in derivative instruments for speculativieopsies. Gains or losses resulting from changdeivalues of those derivatives are refle
in earnings, or as accumulated other compreheirsieene or loss, a separate component of equityertdipg on the use of the derivatives
and whether they qualify for hedge accounting.rifeo to qualify for hedge accounting, among othi#eda, a derivative must be a hedge of
an interest rate, price, foreign currency exchamatg or credit risk that is expected to be higiffective at the inception of the hedge, be
highly effective in achieving offsetting changestie fair value or cash flows of the hedged itemrduthe term of the hedge and formally
documented at the inception of the hedge. In gértbratypes of risks the Company has hedged asethelated to the variability of future
cash flows caused by movements in foreign currexchange and interest rates. The Company docurntenisk management strategy and
hedge effectiveness at the inception of, and dutiegerm of, each hedge.

Fiscal Year

The Company's fiscal year ends on the Sunday ¢las&xctober thirty-first, and, as a result, a 58el year occurs every 5 to 6 years.
Fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010 each includedegksy while fiscal year 2013 will include 53 weeks.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and higfulig linvestments purchased with an original m&uwf 3 months or less. The
carrying values of cash equivalents approximate fhe values due to the short-term maturitieshafse instruments.
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Inventories

Inventories are primarily comprised of raw materiahd are stated at the lower of cost, determineénthe first-in, first-out ("FIFO")
method, or market.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, except as explaiedalv under "Impairment of Long-Lived Assets," atated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and amortization. Repairs and maimesgas well as renewals and replacements of meomature, are charged to operations as
incurred, while those that improve or extend thediof existing assets are capitalized. Upon sat¢h@r disposition, the cost of the asset and
accumulated depreciation are removed from the atspand any resulting gain or loss is reflectedamings.

Depreciation and amortization are computed usiagthaight-line method over the estimated usefekliof the related assets. Buildings
and improvements are depreciated over 15 to 4Gyewchinery and equipment over 3 to 10 yearsfamiture, fixtures and office
equipment over 3 to 5 years. Leasehold improvenmametamortized over the life of the lease or thieneted useful life of the improvement,
whichever is less. Judgment and assumptions atkingstablishing estimated useful lives and deatien periods. The Company also uses
judgment and assumptions as it periodically revipreperty, plant and equipment for any potentigdamment in carrying values wheney
events such as a significant industry downturmtptéosures, technological obsolescence, or oth@nge in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist primarily of a technolbiggnse agreement, a supply agreement and adguis@lated intangibles. These assets
are stated at fair value as of the date acquiresldecumulated amortization. Amortization is calted based on the estimated useful lives of
the assets, which range from 3 to 15 years, usiagtraight-line method or another method that rfairly represents the utilization of the
assets.

The Company periodically evaluates the remainirgfuldives of its intangible assets to determineethler events or circumstances
warrant a revision to the remaining periods of dimation. In the event that the estimate of anrigthle asset’s remaining useful life has
changed, the remaining carrying amount of the gitde asset is amortized prospectively over thaisezl remaining useful life. If it is
determined that an intangible asset has an indefisieful life, that intangible asset would be sabjo impairment testing annually or
whenever events or circumstances indicate thatahging value may not, based on future undiscalingsh flows or market factors, be
recoverable, and an impairment loss would be rextbid the period so determined. The measuremeahedfmpairment loss would be based
on the fair value of the intangible asset.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment wienevents or changes in circumstances indicatghbacarrying amount of such
assets may not be recoverable. Determination oiverability is based on the Company's judgmentestinates of undiscounted future cash
flows resulting from the use of the assets and #heentual disposition. Measurement of an impairtntess for long-lived assets that
management expects to hold and use is based daitlvalue of the assets. The carrying values sé&sdetermined to be impaired are
reduced to their estimated fair values. Fair vabhfeany impaired assets would generally be detexthimsing a market or income approach.

Investments in Joint Ventures

Investments in joint ventures over which the Conyplaas the ability to exercise significant influeraaed that, in general, are at least 20
percent owned are stated at cost plus equity imstrittlited net income (loss) of the joint ventuke.impairment loss would be recognized
whenever a decrease in the fair value of suchwesiment below its carrying amount is determinedg@ther than temporary. In judging
"other than temporary," the Company would consiterlength of time and the extent to which the vaiue of the investment has been less
than the carrying amount of the investment, the-texan and longeterm operating and financial prospects of the itaegsand the Compan
longer-term intent of retaining its investmentlie investee.
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Variable Interest Entities

The Company accounts for the investments it makesitain legal entities in which equity investdesnot have 1) sufficient equity at
risk for the legal entity to finance its activitiesthout additional subordinated financial suppant2) as a group, the holders of the equity
investment at risk do not have either the powegubh voting or similar rights, to direct the adiies of the legal entity that most significan
impact the entity’s economic performance or, 3)dhkgation to absorb the expected losses of thal lentity or the right to receive expected
residual returns of the legal entity. These ceragral entities are referred to as “variable indemmntities”, or “VIES”.

The Company would consolidate the results of amp @mtity in which it determined that it had a gofling financial interest. The
Company would have a “controlling financial intdfaa such an entity if the Company had both thevpoto direct the activities that most
significantly affect the VIE's economic performaraed the obligation to absorb the losses of, dittig receive benefits from, the VIE that
could be potentially significant to the VIE. On aagterly basis, the Company reassesses whethas @ bontrolling financial interest in any
investments it has in these certain legal entities.

Income Taxes

The income tax provision is computed on the bafsie@various tax jurisdictions' income or lossdrefincome taxes. Deferred income
taxes reflect the tax effects of differences betwthe carrying amounts of assets and liabilitiedifancial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for income tax purposes, as welleatatheffects of net operating losses and tax toadiyforwards. The Company uses
judgment and assumptions to determine if valuaitowances for deferred income tax assets are nedjuf their realization is not mo
likely than not, by considering future market grobworecasted operations, future taxable income th@ mix of earnings in the tax
jurisdictions in which it operate

The Company considers income taxes in each ofthgitisdictions in which it operates in order &termine its effective income tax
rate. Current income tax exposure is identified temdporary differences resulting from differingatments of items for tax and financial
reporting purposes are assessed. These differezmasin deferred tax assets and liabilities, Wwhace included in the Company's consolid
balance sheets. Additionally, the Company evaludiepotential realization of deferred income tageds from future taxable income and
establishes valuation allowances if their real@ais deemed not more likely than not. Accordingtgome taxes charged against earnings
may have been impacted by changes in the valuatiowance. Significant management estimates anghjeht are required in determining
any valuation allowances recorded against net fdax assets.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positionssbgrding a liability for unrecognized tax bengfiesulting from uncertain tax
positions taken, or expected to be taken, in kgeturns. The Company includes any applicableadsteand penalties related to uncertain tax
positions in its income tax provision.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is based on tlghtesl-average number of common shares outstarfidiribe period, excluding any
dilutive common share equivalents. Diluted EPSetfl the potential dilution that could occur ifte@r share-based payment awards or
financial instruments were exercised, earned ovexdad.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes share-based compensatiengxpver the service period that the awards grected to vest. Share-based
compensation expense includes the estimated effetsfeitures, which are adjusted over the reigiiservice period to the extent actual
forfeitures differ, or are expected to differ, frauch estimates. Changes in estimated forfeitusesegognized in the period of change and
will also impact the amount of expense to be retzsghin future periods. Determining the approprigpéon pricing model, calculating the
grant date fair value of share-based awards andastg forfeiture rates requires considerable judgt, including the estimations of stock
price volatility and the expected term of optiomarged.

The Company uses the Bla8lcholes option pricing model to value employeelstitions. The Company estimates stock price Jitia

based on daily averages of its historical volatitiver a term approximately equal to the estimétad period the grant will remain
outstanding. The expected term of options and itorke rate assumptions are derived from historded.
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Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed azda@nd consist primarily of global developmeffdres related to high-end process
technologies for advanced sub-wavelength retidigtisms for IC photomask technologies. Researchdmalopment expenses also include
the amortization of the carrying value of a tecloggllicense agreement with Micron Technology, Ifi®licron”). Under this technology
license agreement, the Company has access toncphtaiomask technology developed by Micron.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company's international subsidiaries maintagirtaccounts in their respective local currendclesets and liabilities of such
subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars at-gaedrexchange rates. Income and expenses areateghat average rates of exchange
prevailing during the year. Foreign currency tratish adjustments are accumulated and reportedcumnaulated other comprehensive
income, a component of equity. The effects of clearig exchange rates on foreign currency transastishich are included in interest and
other income (expense), net were a gain of $0.2omjl$0.4 million and $2.0 million in fiscal yea2912, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests represents the minoritgreholders' proportionate share in the equity @eG@bmpany's two majority-owned
subsidiaries, PK Ltd. ("PKL") in Korea of which naomtrolling shareholders owned approximately 0.3%fa0ctober 28, 2012 and October
30, 2011, and Photronics Semiconductor Mask Cotjord'PSMC") in Taiwan, of which noncontrollingterests owned approximately 28%
and 38%, as of October 28, 2012 and October 3Q,,2@%pectively. The effect on its equity of tharhe in the Company’s ownership
interest in PSMC is presented in Note 15.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when there is mveuavidence that an arrangement exists, delivasyoccurred, the sales price is
fixed or determinable, and collectability is reaably assured. Delivery is determined by the shmigpérms of the individual sales
transactions. For sales with FOB destination shigpérms, delivery occurs when the Company’s prodeeches its destination and is
received by the customer. For sales with FOB shippioint terms, delivery occurs when the Compapysluct is received by the common
carrier. The Company uses judgment when estim#ti@gffect on revenue of discounts and productamtyrobligations, both of which are
accrued when the related revenue is recognized.

Warranties and Other Post Shipment Obligatief®r a 30-day period, the Company warrants teatstsold will conform to customer
specifications. However, the Company’s liabilityimited to the repair or replacement of the phasks at its sole option. The Company
inspects photomasks for conformity to customer i§igations prior to shipment. Accordingly, custormeturns of items under warranty have
historically been insignificant. However, the Camp records a liability for the insignificant amawf estimated warranty returns based on
historical experience. The Company’s specific refuplicies include accepting returns of producthwliefects, or products that have not been
produced to precise customer specifications. Atithe of revenue recognition, a liability is esiabéd for these items.

Sales Taxes The Company reports its revenues net of any sakes billed to its customers.

41




Index
NOTE 2 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment consists of the falg:

October 28, October 30,

2012 2011
Land $ 8,53t $ 7,33(
Buildings and improvemen 101,40¢ 90,45¢
Machinery and equipme 1,197,85. 1,195,00
Leasehold improvemen 5,85¢ 8,77¢
Furniture, fixtures and office equipme 13,48¢ 13,98¢
Construction in progress 26,64 4,694

1,353,78 1,320,25:
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 972,97. 951,57

$ 380,80t $ 368,68(

Property under capital leases are included in apoegerty, plant and equipment as follows:

October 28, October 30,

2012 2011
Machinery and equipme! $ 21,327 $ 21,327
Buildings and improvements - 33,62
21,32} 54,94¢
Less accumulated amortization 2,75¢ 24,66(

$ 18,56¢ $ 30,28¢

Depreciation expense for property, plant and eqaeipnfexcluding property under capital leases) we&&million, $77.0 million and
$71.2 million in fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 20E3pectively. Amortization expense for property emchpital leases was $4.8 million, $9.7
million and $10.2 million in fiscal years 2012, 20and 2010, respectively.
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NOTE 3 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets include assets related to thehpee of additional shares of PKL and the investriweform the MP Mask joint
venture. Amortization expense of intangible asaets $5.0 million, $5.3 million and $6.0 million fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Intangible asset amortization is dased to range from $4.0 million to $5.0 millioar year for the next 5 years.

Intangible assets consist of:

Gross Accumulated Net
As of October 28, 2012 Amount Amortization Amount
Technology license agreeme $ 59,61t $ 25,50! $ 34,11:
Customer list: 7,21( 4,87¢ 2,33¢
Supply agreemet 6,95¢ 6,157 80z
Software and other 3,491 3,35¢ 13E

$ 77,27¢  $ 39,89: $ 37,38¢

As of October 30, 201:

Technology license agreeme $ 59,61¢ $ 21,52¢ $ 38,08¢
Customer list: 7,21( 4,15¢ 3,05¢
Supply agreemet 6,95¢ 5,80: 1,157
Software and other 3,551 3,39¢ 161

$ 77,34: $ 34,880 $ 42,46:

NOTE 4 - JOINT VENTURE, TECHNOLOGY LICENSE AND OTHE R AGREEMENTS WITH MICRON TECHNOLOGY, INC.

In May 2006 Photronics and Micron entered intoli Mask joint venture (“MP Mask”), which developsdaproduces photomasks for
leading-edge and advanced next generation semictrduAs part of the formation of the joint verguMicron contributed its existing
photomask technology center located in Boise, Idéieadquarters of MP Mask) and Photronics inve$1&5 million in exchange for a
49.99% interest in MP Mask (to which $64.2 milliofhthe original investment was allocated), a lieefer photomask technology of Micron,
and certain supply agreements.

This joint venture is a variable interest entityIE") (as that term is defined in the Accountingusdards Codification ("ASC") ) because
all costs of the joint venture are passed on tcCi@pany and Micron through purchase agreemengshidnee entered into with the joint
venture, and it is dependent upon the Company antbifor any additional cash requirements. On argguly basis the Company reassesses
whether its interest in MP Mask gives it a contngifinancial interest in this VIE. The purposetios quarterly reassessment is to identify the
primary beneficiary (which is defined in the ASCths entity that consolidates a VIE) of the VIE. &sesult of the reassessments in fiscal
year 2012, the Company determined that Micronilistlsé primary beneficiary of the VIE, by virtud its tie-breaking voting rights within M
Mask’s Board of Managers, thereby giving it the poto direct the activities of MP Mask that mogfrficantly impact its economic
performance, including its decision making authoiritthe ordinary course of business and its pusicigathe majority of products produced
the VIE.

The Company has utilized MP Mask for both high-8dghotomask production and research and developmeposes. MP Mask

charges its variable interest holders based on #lotial usage of its facility and charges sepbréde any research and development activi
it engages in at the requests of its owners.

43




Index

MP Mask is governed by a Board of Managers, appdibly Micron and the Company. Since MP Mask's itioepMicron, as a result of
its majority ownership, has held majority votingymr on the Board of Managers. The voting power hgléach party is subject to change as
ownership interests change. Under the MP Mask j@nture operating agreement, the Company mayduereel to make additional capital
contributions to MP Mask up to the maximum amoueftrebd in the operating agreement. However, shthddBoard of Managers determine
that further additional funding is required, MP Mahall pursue its own financing. If MP Mask is bleato obtain its own financing, it may
request additional capital contributions from tren@any. Should the Company choose not to makeweséed contribution to MP Mask, its
ownership percentage may be reduced. During f@82 and fiscal 2011 the Company made addition@talacontributions of $13.4 million
and $18.3 million, respectively, to the MP Maslnjorenture, which were primarily related to capéalls made by the joint venture. The
Company did not receive any distributions from MBI during fiscal 2012 or fiscal 2011.

The Company's investment in the VIE, which représéa maximum exposure to loss, was $93.3 miliad $80.0 million at October Z
2012 and October 30, 2011, respectively. These ataaue reported in the Company's consolidatechbalaheets as Investment in joint
venture. The Company recorded a loss from its imvest in MP Mask of $0.1 million and income of $@@lion and $0.2 million in fiscal
years 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Incomss)lisom MP Mask is included in Interest and oiheome, net, in the consolidat
statements of income.

As of October 28, 2012, the Company owed MP MasH #6llion and had a receivable from Micron of $&ndlion, both primarily
related to the aforementioned supply agreements Cdmpany, in 2012, recorded $1.6 million of conwinis revenue earned under the
supply agreements it has with Micron and MP Masako#tization of $0.4 million of the supply agreeméaritingible asset resulted in net
revenue related to the supply agreements of $1llmin 2012. The recorded commission revenuelo63$nillion represents the excess of
$41.5 million in orders received from Micron oveetCompany's cost of $39.9 million to fulfill theders through MP Mask. The Company,
for certain sales made during 2012, also recordetiaf sales in the amount of $7.6 million for plrotisks produced by MP Mask for the
Company's customers, and incurred expenses ofn§iftion for research and development activities attter goods and services purchased
from MP Mask by the Company. In 2012, the Compamylpased equipment from MP Mask for $1.9 milliohwhich $1.5 million was
recorded as the cost of the equipment and $0.4omillas recorded as an investment in joint venture.

As of October 30, 2011, the Company owed MP MasR $illion and had a receivable from Micron of $&lion, both primarily
related to the aforementioned supply agreements Cdmpany, in 2011, recorded $1.7 million of conwinis revenue earned under the
supply agreements it has with Micron and MP Masako#tization of $0.5 million of the supply agreeméaritingible asset resulted in net
revenue related to the supply agreements of $1lmin 2011. The recorded commission revenuelo¥ $nillion represents the excess of
$35.0 million in orders received from Micron ovietCompany's cost of $33.3 million to fulfill theders through MP Mask. The Company,
for certain sales made during 2011, also recordetiaf sales in the amount of $18.5 million for fhmasks produced by MP Mask for the
Company's customers, and incurred expenses oin§ilidn for research and development activities attter goods and services purchased
from MP Mask by the Company. In 2011, the Compamglpased equipment from MP Mask for $4.6 milliohwbich $2.3 million was
recorded as the cost of the equipment and $2.8milVas recorded as an investment in joint venture.

The Company, in 2010, recorded $1.7 million of cdssion revenue earned under the supply agreenterds vith Micron and MP
Mask. Amortization of $0.5 million of the supplyr@gment intangible asset resulted in net reverlateteto the supply agreements of $1.2
million in 2010. The recorded commission revenu&hf7 million represents the excess of $35.3 nnillioorders received from Micron over
the Company's cost of $33.6 million to fulfill tbeders through MP Mask. The Company, for certaiessanade during 2010, also recorded
cost of sales in the amount of $5.9 million for fhmasks produced by MP Mask for the Company's custs, and incurred expenses of $1.9
million for research and development activities attter goods and services purchased from MP MashdoZompany.
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In the first quarter of 2008 a capital lease age@mwith Micron commenced for the U.S. nanoFablitgdn Boise, Idaho. Quarterly lea
payments, which bore interest at 8%, were $3.8anilhrough January 2013. This lease was cancilldte third fiscal quarter of 2009, at
which time the Company and Micron (the lessor) mrténto a new lease agreement for the facilitydéirthe provisions of the new lease
agreement, quarterly lease payments were reduced$8.8 million to $2.0 million, the term of theake was extended from December 31,
2012 to December 31, 2014, and ownership of thpgrtg would not transfer to the Company at the @ftthe lease term. The interest rate of
the new lease agreement remained at 8%. As & m¥sbk new lease agreement, the Company redteéshise obligation and the carrying
value of its assets under capital leases by appately $28 million. The Company paid the capitalske obligation in full in April 2011 with
portion of the net proceeds of the March 2011 issaaf its 3.25% convertible senior notes.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2012 the Comparig $a5 million to Micron in connection with the mimase of the U.S. nanoFab facility
and the remaining term of the operating lease ageeéthrough 2014 was cancelled. Also in conneatiith this purchase, the Company
entered into a $25 million term loan agreemenh&gecond quarter of fiscal 2012 (see Notes 7 dodfarther discussion).

Summarized financial information of MP Mask is meted below.

As of October

2012 2011
Current assetl $ 25,70 $ 22,26¢
Noncurrent asse 170,22¢ 157,17¢
Current liabilities 15,597 25,94:

Noncurrent liabilities - R

Year Ended October

2012 2011 2010
Net sales $ 84,21¢ $ 79,76¢ $ 63,16
Gross profit 1,79¢ 2,64¢ 1,97¢
Net income 831 6,691 54(

NOTE 5 - ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities consist of the following:

October 28, October 30,

2012 2011
Salaries, wages and related beng $ 737¢  $ 7,07
Income taxe: 6,98¢ 10,19¢
VAT and other taxe 2,22¢ 2,87t
Property, plant and equipme 2717 7,58
Other 7,82¢ 7,81

$ 24,70 $ 35,54¢
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NOTE 6 - DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVIT IES

The Company utilizes derivative instruments to wedits exposure to the effects of the variabilitynterest rates and foreign currencies
on its financial performance when it believes saction is warranted. Historically, the Company haen a party to derivative instruments to
hedge either the variability of cash flows of agpective transaction or the fair value of a recdraeset or liability. In certain instances, the
Company has designated these transactions as gadgiruments. However, whether or not a derivatias designated as being a hedging
instrument, the Company's purpose for engagingerderivative has always been for risk managenasrt (ot speculative) purposes. The
Company has historically not been a party to aiiggmt number of derivative instruments and doesexpect its derivative activity to
significantly increase in the foreseeable future.

In addition to the utilization of derivative instnents discussed above, the Company attempts tonmmits risk of foreign currency
exchange rate variability by, whenever possiblecpring production materials within the same coptttat it will utilize the materials in
manufacturing and, by selling to customers from uf@acturing sites within the country in which thestamers are located.

In May 2009, in connection with an amendment teitlit facility, the Company issued 2.1 millionnamts, each exercisable for one
share of the Company's common stock at an exegpdise of $0.01 per share. Forty percent of the args were exercisable upon issuance,
and the remaining balance was to become exercigableenty percent increments at various pointnre after October 31, 2009. As a result
of certain net cash settleable put provisions withe warrant agreement, the warrants were recasediability in the Company's
consolidated balance sheet. As of the issuanceadatéor future periods that such warrants remaméstanding, the Company had adjusted
the liability based upon the current fair valudhef warrants, with any changes in their fair vddeang recognized in earnings. Due to the
warrants' exercise price of $0.01 per share, thgivalue approximated the market price of the @any's common stock. Approximately 1.2
million of these warrants were cancelled as a tesithe Company's early repayment of certain arteunder its credit facility during the
year ended November 1, 2009, and the associatatityiewas reduced accordingly. All of the 0.2 milliontb&se warrants that remained
outstanding were exercised in fiscal 2012. See Rdte disclosures related to other common stockaves.

A portion of an existing loss on a cash flow hedgehe amount of $0.1 million, is expected to belassified into earnings over the next
twelve months.

The table below presents the effect of derivatinstruments on the Company's consolidated balarestsht October 28, 2012 and
October 30, 2011.

Derivatives Not Designatec Fair Value at
as Hedging Instruments October 28, October 30,
Under ASC 815 Balance Sheet Locatior 2012 2011
Warrants on common stox Other liabilities = $1,147

The table below presents the effect of derivathatruments on the Company's consolidated stateroéimsome for the years ended
October 28, 2012, October 30, 2011 and Octobe2@10.

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized Related to
Derivative Instruments

Year Ended
Derivatives Not Designated a Location of Gain (Loss)
Hedging Instruments Under Recognized Related to October 28,  October 30,  October 31,
ASC 815 Derivative Instruments 2012 2011 2010
Warrants on common sto Interest and other income (expense), $ 94 $ (424 $ (91€)
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NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
Long-term borrowings consist of the following:

October 28, October 30,

2012 2011

3.25% convertible senior notes due on April 1, 2 $ 115,00 $ 115,00(
Term loan, which bears interest at a variable mealefined (2.5% at October 28, 2012), ¢

matures March 1, 201 23,75( -

5.50% convertible senior notes due on October 14. 22,05« 22,05¢

3.09% capital lease obligation payable through M&@16 15,17¢ 19,21¢

4.75% financing loan with custom 75€ 1,88¢

176,73 158,16(

Less current portion 7,781 5,58:

$ 168,95¢ $ 152,57

As of October 28, 2012, long-term borrowings, esglg capital lease obligations, mature as follo®&258, $24,554, $2,500, $117,500
and $13,750 in fiscal years 2013, 2014, 2015, 20152017 respectively. The maturity date for tis% financing loan with a customer is
dependent upon the timing of photomasks shippéidatocustomer. The Company currently estimatestkiealoan will be fully repaid in fisci
2013, and has reflected that estimate in the yaaalyrity amounts presented above.

As of October 28, 2012, minimum lease payments utideCompany's capital lease obligation were bgvis:

Fiscal Years:
2013 $ 4,96:
2014 4,58(
2015 4,58(
2016 1,907
16,02¢
Less interest 854
Net minimum lease payments under capital le 15,17t
Less current portion of net minimum lease payments 4,52
Long-term portion of minimum lease payments $ 10,65:

In March 2012 the Company, in connection with iisghase of the U.S. nanoFab facility (see Noter4uither discussion), amended its
credit facility (“the credit facility”) to includé¢he addition of a $25 million term loan maturingMiarch 2017 with minimum quarterly
principal payments of $0.6 million (quarterly paymegcommenced in June 2012 and are based on aaemgpayment period). The
amendment also included a twenty-five basis p@&duction in the interest rate charged on any bdngsvunder the credit facility.

In March 2011 the Company amended its credit fgaoNihich, as amended, included, among other thifgsreduction of the aggregate
commitments of the lenders from $65 million to $8ilion; ii) a reduction of the applicable interestes and modifications of the leverage
ratios related thereto; iii) an extension of theumisy date to April 30, 2015; iv) an increase e tpermitted amount of certain financed capital
assets up to $75 million outstanding at any one;twh an allowance to issue the 3.25% convertibfés notes (discussed below); vi) an
increase in the investments “basket” from $15 wrillto $25 million per year; vii) an allowance tpuechase the 5.5% convertible senior
notes and other indebtedness; and viii) remové#i@limitation on maximum last twelve months capitependitures.
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The credit facility bears interest (2.50% at Octad® 2012), based on the Company’s total leveragie, at LIBOR plus a spread, as
defined in the credit facility. The credit facility secured by substantially all of the Compangsess located in the United States, as well as
common stock the Company owns in certain of iteifpr subsidiaries, and is subject to the followfingncial covenants: minimum fixed
charge ratio, total leverage ratio and minimum stiieted cash balance. As of October 28, 2012Cmpany was in compliance with the
covenants of its credit facility, had no outstamddorrowings under the credit facility and $30 il was available for borrowing.

In March 2011 the Company issued through a prigéfering pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securifiesof 1933, as amended, $115
million aggregate principal amount of 3.25% conipdetsenior notes. The notes mature on April 1,6@hd note holders may convert each
$1,000 principal amount of notes to 96.3879 shafe®mmon stock (equivalent to an initial convenspice of $10.37 per share of common
stock) at any time prior to the close of businasshe second scheduled trading day immediatelyegiiag April 1, 2016. The conversion ri
is subject to adjustment upon the occurrence aéiceevents, which are described in the indentatediMarch 28, 2011. The Company is
required to redeem the notes prior to their matutitte. Interest on the notes accrues in arreagsisgpaid semiannually through the notes’
maturity date. The net proceeds of the notes wgpeoaimately $110.7 million, which were used, intpgo acquire $35.4 million of the
Companys 5.5% convertible senior notes which were to neatur October 1, 2014, and to repay, in full, ientloutstanding obligations un
capital leases of $19.8 million.

In June 2011 the Company acquired $5.0 milliorto5i5% convertible senior notes in exchange fomtillion shares of its common
stock with a fair value of $6.5 million and cash$@2 million (the note holders received 147.528reh and cash of $647 for each $1,000
note). The Company, in connection with this repaseh recorded an extinguishment loss of $5.0 mijllichich included the write off of
deferred financing fees of $0.3 million. The lossricluded in other income (expense) in the Comisacpnsolidated statements of income. In
March 2011 the Company acquired $30.4 million 86t5% convertible senior notes in exchange fondilbon shares of its common stock
with a fair value of $39.2 million and cash of $A@illion (the note holders received 147.529 sharescash of $647 for each $1,000 note).
The Company, in connection with this repurchasepnded an extinguishment loss of $30.1 million, ethincluded the write off of deferred
financing fees of $1.7 million. The loss is incldde other income (expense) in the Company's cadeteld statements of income.

In September 2009 the Company issued, through kcmftering, $57.5 million aggregate principal aom of 5.5% convertible senior
notes, which were to mature on October 1, 2014dddithe terms of the offering, the note holderddconvert each $1,000 principal amount
of notes to 196.7052 shares of common stock (etpriv#o an initial conversion price of $5.08 peahof common stock) on, or before,
September 30, 2014. The conversion rate is sutjedjustment upon the occurrence of certain ewshich are described in the indenture
dated September 16, 2009. The Company is notrextjto redeem the notes prior to their maturitire Tiet proceeds of this offering were
approximately $54.9 million, which were used toueel amounts outstanding under the Company’s diadlity. As discussed above, $35.4
million aggregate principal amount of these notesanacquired by the Company during fiscal 2011.

In April 2011 the Company entered into a five y&&1.2 million capital lease for manufacturing guopoent. Payments under the lease,
which bears interest at 3.09%, are $0.4 millionrmpenth through March 2016. The lease agreemenigesvhat the Company must maintain
the equipment in good working order, and includesoss default with cross acceleration provisidateg to certain non-financial covenants
incorporated in the Company's credit facility agneat. As of October 28, 2012, the total amount pkeythrough the end of the lease term
was $16.0 million, of which $15.2 million represedfprincipal and $0.8 million represented interest.

In January 2010 the Company borrowed $3.7 milliomfa customer to purchase manufacturing equipriiéig.loan bears interest at
4.75% and is primarily being repaid with produgpglied to the customer. Product valued at $1.0ioniland $1.1 million was shipped to the
customer and applied against the loan during fi20&PR and 2011, respectively. The Company estinthsgshe loan will be fully repaid in
fiscal 2013.

Interest payments were $6.3 million, $9.7 milliod&7.8 million in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 2010, exgjvely, including deferred
financing cost payments of $0.2 million, $4.3 noiliand $1.3 million in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 20B3pectively.
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NOTE 8 - COMMON STOCK WARRANTS

In September 2009 the Company entered into twoamaagreements with Intel Capital Corporation tochase a total of 750,000 shares
of the Company's common stock. Under one warramtesgent 500,000 shares of the Company's commok stocbe purchased at an
exercise price of $4.15 per share and under trensleearrant agreement 250,000 shares of the Cortgpamymon stock can be purchased at
an exercise price of $5.08 per share. The wargmeeanents expire in September 2014. Also in Septe2®09, the Company and Intel
Corporation entered into an agreement to sharaiemhand operations information regarding the dgwaent of the Company's products,
capabilities of the Company's photomask manufaafuines and the alignment of photomask toolsetel ICapital Corporation also invested
in the Company's convertible debt offering of Segder 2009. The warrants were recorded at theivdire on their date of grant, which was
determined using the Blackeholes option pricing model. As of October 28,201one of the warrants issued to Intel Capitalp@oation hac
been exercised.

In conjunction with a May 2009 amendment to itddréacility, the Company also entered into a watragreement with its lenders. See
Note 6 for further discussion of these warra

NOTE 9 - OPERATING LEASES

The Company leases various real estate and equipmdar noneancelable operating leases, for which rental experas $2.7 million |
fiscal year 2012, and $2.9 million in fiscal yedf1 and 2010. As discussed in Note 4, in fisc@P2Be Company entered into a new lease
agreement for the U.S. nanoFab, under which theelaas being accounted for as a capital leaseghrdecember 31, 2012 (the end date of
its original lease term), and, thereafter, wasg¢@tcounted for as an operating lease througlxpisation on December 31, 2014. In fiscal
2011 the Company paid this capital lease obligatidnll with a portion of the net proceeds of tdarch 2011 issuance of its 3.25%
convertible senior notes, and in fiscal 2012 then@any paid the lessor $35 million in connectiortmis purchase of the U.S. nanoFab,
which reduced the Company’s outstanding operagagé commitments by a total of $15 million for disgears 2013 and 2014.

At October 28, 2012, future minimum lease paymentier non-cancelable operating leases with irtitihs in excess of one year are as
follows:

2013 $ 1,51:
2014 797
2015 59¢
2016 50¢
2017 33¢
Thereafter 55€

$ 4,30z

See Note 7 for disclosures related to the Compamayial lease obligations.
NOTE 10 — SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

In March 2007 the Company's shareholders approvesheshardsased compensation plan ("Plan”), under which opticestricted stoc
restricted stock units, stock appreciation rightsformance stock, performance units, and otherdssaased on, or related to, shares of the
Company's common stock may be granted from shatesrized but unissued or shares previously issuneldreacquired by the Company. A
maximum of six million shares of common stock mayigsued under the plan. Awards may be granteffiteis, employees, directors,
consultants, advisors, and independent contraofdte Company or its subsidiaries. In the everd ohange in control (as defined in the
Plan), the vesting of awards may be accelerateel Plén, aspects of which are more fully descrikeddvl, prohibits further awards from
being issued under prior plans. The Company induotal share-based compensation cost of $3.2omjl2.5 million and $1.9 million in
fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectivelysihire-based compensation cost was capitalizedrasffzan asset and no related income tax
benefits were recorded during the fiscal yearsqiresl.
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Stock Options

Option awards generally vest in one to four yeans, have a ten year contractual term. All incendind nongualified stock option gran
must have an exercise price no less than the maaket of the underlying common stock on the dagrant. The grant date fair values of
options are based on the closing prices of the Goryip common stock on the date of grant using tlaekBScholes option pricing model.
Expected volatility is based on the historical vitity of the Company's stock. The Company usetohisal option exercise behavior and
employee termination data to estimate expected, i@hith represents the period of time that theaygtigranted are expected to remain
outstanding. The risk-free rate of return for teérmeated term of the option is based on the U.8a3ury yield curve in effect at the date of
grant. The weighted-average inputs and risk-frée ereturn ranges used to calculate the graset idét values of options issued during fiscal
years 2012, 2011 and 2010 are presented in thenfioly table:

Year Ended
October 28, October 30, October 31,
2012 2011 2010
Expected volatility 102.1% 98.71% 89.9%
Risk-free rate of retur 0.6—0.% 0.7-1.% 1.5-2.4%
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Expected tern 4.3 year 4.2 year 4.4 year

A summary of option activity under the Plarod©ctober 28, 2012, and changes during the year ¢nded is presented as follows:

Weighted-Average
Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate

Options Shares Exercise Price  Contractual Life Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at October 30, 20 4,033,911 $ 9.2¢
Grantec 556,50( 6.2
Exercisec (225,58) 1.31
Cancelled and forfeited (365,52 19.9(
Outstanding at October 28, 2012 3,999,30: $ 8.34 6.0 year $ 3,327
Exercisable at October 28, 2012 2,280,94' $ 10.9¢ 4.6 year $ 1,882
Expected to vest as of October 28, 2012 153541 $ 4.8: 7.8 year $ 1,36

The weighted-average grant date fair value of otigranted during fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 284@ $4.47, $4.75 and $2.98,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of optiaercised during fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2049 %$1.3 million, $2.1 million and $0.4
million, respectively.

The Company received cash from option exercis&9 dd million, $0.4 million and $0.1 million in fis¢ years 2012, 2011 and 2010,

respectively. As of October 28, 2012, the totaleengnized compensation cost of unvested optiondswaas approximately $3.9 million.
That cost is expected to be recognized over a wailghverage amortization period of 2.4 years.
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Restricted Stock

The Company periodically grants restricted stockms. The restrictions on these awards lapse osenice period that has ranged fr
less-than-one to eight years. The weighted-aveyeayg date fair values of restricted stock awasdaed during fiscal years 2012 and 2011
were $6.28 and $6.71, respectively. No restrictedksawards were granted during fiscal 2010. el fair value of awards for which
restrictions lapsed was $0.5 million, $0.5 milliand $0.4 million during fiscal years 2012, 2011 20d0 respectively. As of October 28,
2012, the total compensation cost for restrictedksiwards not yet recognized was approximatelg #fillion. That cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average amortizatiologef 2.3 years. A summary of the status of thenany's outstanding restricted stock
awards as of October 28, 2012, is presented below:

Weightec-
Average
Fair Value
at Grant
Restricted Stock Shares Date
Outstanding at October 30, 20 191,827 $ 9.37
Grantec 168,75( 6.2¢
Vested (108,267 8.71
Outstanding at October 28, 2012 252,31 $ 7.5€
Expected to vest as of October 28, 2012 226,47 $ 7.41

Employee Sock Purchase Plan

The Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESiP1)its employees to purchase shares at 85% bfwrex of the fair market
value at the commencement of the offering or teeday of the payroll payment period. The maximwmher of shares of common stock
approved by the Company's shareholders to be pgedhander the ESPP was increased from 0.9 milhares to 1.2 million shares during
fiscal 2010. The vesting period for shares purcthaseler the ESPP is approximately one year. UdeESPP, approximately 1.1 million
shares had been issued through October 28, 20d 2pgmoximately 78,000 shares are subject to mudtg subscriptions. As of October 28,
2012, the total compensation cost related to tHeFESot yet recognized was $0.1 million, which ipested to be recognized in fiscal 2013.

NOTE 11 - EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company maintains a 401(k) Savings and Prbfirigg Plan ("401(k) Plan") which covers all fullhe domestic employees who
have completed three months of service and area8\of age or older. Under the terms of the 40R&), employees may contribute up to
50% of their salary, subject to certain maximum ants, which will be matched by the Company at 5G%e employee's contributions that
are not in excess of 4% of the employee's compens&mployee and employer contributions vest upamtribution. Employer contributior
amounted to $0.4 million in fiscal years 2012, 2@hd 2010.

The Company's international subsidiaries maintaiinement plans for their employees, which vancbyntry. The obligations and cost
of these plans are not significant to the Comparytsolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 12 - CONSOLIDATION, RESTRUCTURING AND RELATED CHARGES (CREDITS)

Sngapore facility

In the first quarter of fiscal 2012 the Companyseshthe manufacture of photomasks at its Singdpoilty and, in connection therewi
recorded charges of $1.4 million during fiscal 20T1Ris restructuring, which was comprised primaafyemployee termination costs, was
substantially completed in fiscal 2012. The follogiitable sets forth the Company's restructuringrwesprimarily related to its Singapore
facility as of October 28, 2012, and reflects thevity affecting the reserve for the year then eshd

Year Ended October 28, 2012

October 31, October 28,

2011 Charges Utilized 2012
Employee terminations and ott $ - 8 1,166 $ 871 $ 29t
Asset writ-downs - 262 (262) -
$ - $ 1,42¢ $ (1,139 $ 20E

Shanghai, China, Facility

In the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compangsessl the manufacture of photomasks at its Shanghaia, facility. Net restructuring
credits of $5.0 million in 2010 primarily relate tive sale of the Company’s Shanghai, China, matwiag facility. In 2009 the carrying
value of this facility was written down to its emtited fair value at that time, and in 2010 thelifgtoivas sold for net proceeds of $12.9
million, which exceeded its carrying value and testiin a gain of $5.4 million that was recordedhagedit to the restructuring reserve.

The following table sets forth the Company's restiting reserve as of October 31, 2010 relatetst8hanghai, China, facility, and
reflects the activity affecting the reserve for ylear then ended.

Year Ended October 31, 201(

November 2, Charges October 31,

2009 (Credits) Utilized 2010
Net gain on sales of assi $ - % (5,189 $ 518¢ $ =
Employee terminations and other 134 21C (344) -
$ 134 $ (4979 $ 4,84t $ -

52




Index
NOTE 13 - INCOME TAXES

The income before income tax provision consistheffollowing:

Year Ended
October 28, October 30, October 31,
2012 2011 2010
United State: $ (5,47H $ (20,39¢) $ (27,507
Foreign 46,12: 56,29¢ 60,06(

$ 40,64¢ $ 35,89¢ $ 32,55!

The income tax provision consists of the following:

Year Ended
October 28, October 30, October 31,
2012 2011 2010
Current:
Federal $ 81 $ 291 $ -
State (5) 74 -
Foreign 11,33: 15,55( 7,30z
Deferred:
Federal - - -
State - - -
Foreign (615) (224) 16€
Total $ 10,79 $ 15,69 $ 7,471

The income tax provision differs from the amountihpaited by applying the statutory U.S. federal inedax rate to the income before
income taxes as a result of the following:

Year Ended
October 28,  October 30,  October 31,
2012 2011 2010

U.S. federal income tax at statutory r $ 14,227 $ 12,56 $ 11,39:
Changes in valuation allowanc 1,80¢ (8,339 9,69:
Distributions from foreign subsidiarit 2,07z 1,92t 1,75(C
State income taxes, net of federal ber (1,956 503 (1,270
Foreign tax rate differentia (3,80 (4,467%) (6,38])
Tax credits (1,077 (522 (2,959
Uncertain tax positions, including reserves, setéats and resolutior 1,98¢ 1,49¢ 93
Debt extinguishment loss (2,879 11,94 -
Shanghai, China operations clos - - (6,127)
Other, net 414 581 1,27¢

$ 10,797 $ 15,69. $ 7,471

The effective tax rate differs from the U.S. statytrate of 35% in fiscal year 2012 primarily doeathigher level of earnings being taxed
at lower statutory rates in foreign jurisdictiormsmbined with the benefit of various investment desh certain foreign jurisdictions. The
effective tax rate differs from the U.S. statutomje of 35% in fiscal year 2011 primarily due te impact of the non-deductible debt
extinguishment losses related to the Company'siaitiun of a portion of its 5.5% convertible seniartes and the impact of a foreign
subsidiary tax settlement offset by a higher l@fedarnings taxed at lower statutory rates in fymgurisdictions.
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The Company's operations in Shanghai, China, wesed in the fiscal year ended October 31, 201@.Cbmpany recognized a $10.5
million U.S. tax benefit as a result of the investrwritedown. In China, additional income was grieed as a result of asset sales and
intercompany loan settlements and the related Ghowne tax liability was offset by accumulated apérating losses. As a result of the
closure, the Company wrote off its Shanghai, Chéubsidiary’s deferred tax asset of $4.4 milliohjekh arose as a result of unused operating
losses. The deferred tax asset written off had béfeet in its entirety by a valuation allowance.

The net deferred income tax assets consist ofoltaning:

October 28, October 30,

2012 2011
Deferred income tax asset:
Reserves not currently deductil $ 6,382 $ 5,88¢
Net operating losse 56,25: 51,99
Alternative minimum tax credit 3,11¢ 3,217
Tax credit carryforward 4,78¢ 5,41(
Future lease obligatic - 3,10¢
Other 2,63¢ 3,35¢
73,16¢ 72,97¢
Valuation allowances (55,536 (53,067)
17,63 19,91:
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipme (604) (2,749
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidial (4,575 (4,417
Investments (170) (1,209
Other (351) (487)
(5,700 (8,84%)
Net deferred income tax asset $ 11,93 $ 11,06¢
Reported as:
Current deferred tax asst $ 1,19¢ $ 60¢
Long-term deferred tax asse 11,39t 11,23¢
Accrued liabilities - (45)
Long-term deferred tax liabilities (661) (737)

$ 11,93 $ 11,06¢

Unrecognized tax benefits associated with uncettairpositions were $3.9 million at October 28, 20df which $1.9 million is recorded
in other liabilities in the consolidated balanceesh and $2.0 million is recorded as a reductiotef@rred tax assets and the related valuation
allowance, and were $1.9 million at October 30,22@f which $0.5 million was recorded in incomedsayayable and $1.4 million in other
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheetetfagnized, $1.9 million of the benefits would faatolly affect the Company's effective tax rate
in future periods. Included in these amounts fdhbiscal years 2012 and 2011 was $0.1 millionifderest and penalties. The Company
includes any applicable interest and penaltiesadlto uncertain tax positions in its income tagvsion. As of October 28, 2012, the
Company believes it is not reasonably possibletti@total amounts of unrecognized tax benefitssignificantly increase or decrease in the
next twelve months. Currently, the statutes oftlitidns remain open in various jurisdictions sulossd to, and including, 2007.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoeaininrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest penalties, is as follows:

Year Ended
October 28,  October 30,  October 31,
2012 2011 2010
Balance at beginning of ye $ 1,822 $ 1,67¢ $ 1,57
Additions (reductions) for tax positions in pricgars 1,932 70¢ (35))
Additions based on current year tax positi 61€ 502 454
Settlement: (51¢) (1,06%) -
Lapses of statutes of limitations (61) - -
Balance at end of year $ 3,79 §$ 1,82/ $ 1,67¢

As of October 28, 2012, the Company had availab% Bederal tax operating loss carryforwards ofaxmately $120.3 million which
expire between 2020 and 2032, and research andbgevent tax credit carryforwards of approximateB/IBmillion which expire between
2018 and 2029. As of October 28, 2012, the Compdsty has U.S. state tax operating loss carryforsvaf@pproximately $190.4 million ai
foreign tax operating loss carryforwards of appneiely $40.2 million which expire between 2013 2082 with the exception of $0.4
million that have an indefinite life.

The Company has established a valuation allowaorca portion of its deferred tax assets becauseligves, based on the weight of all
available evidence, that it is more likely than tiwtt a portion of its net operating loss carryfards may expire prior to utilization. The
valuation allowance increased (decreased) by $2liom) $(8.2) million and $10.9 million in fiscalears 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

As of October 28, 2012, the Company had $3.1 milbalternative minimum tax credit carryforwardist are available to offset future
federal income taxes payable. The Company alsathss tax credits available of $2.6 million whidtthey are not utilized, will begin to
expire in 2013.

As of October 28, 2012, the undistributed earniofg@reign subsidiaries included in consolidatehireed earnings amounted to $104.8
million, of which $13.2 million of earnings is ceidered not to be permanently reinvested. The atmfumdistributed earnings is calculated
taking into account the net amount of earninghief@ompany’s foreign subsidiaries, consideringnitsti-tier subsidiary structure, and
translating those earnings into U.S. dollars usixchange rates in effect as of the balance shéet@aring fiscal year 2008 a decision was
made to not indefinitely reinvest earnings in derfareign jurisdictions. No provision has been mé#or taxes due on the remaining
undistributed earnings of $91.6 million considetetbe indefinitely invested. Should the Companygie the future to repatriate the foreign
earnings so invested, it may incur additional inedax expense on those foreign earnings, the anoduvitich is not practicable to compute.

PKLT, the Company's FPD manufacturing facility iaivian, has been accorded a tax holiday, whichestant2012 and expires in 2017.
In addition, the Company had been accorded a thddyoin China which expired in 2011. These taxidteys had no dollar or per share effect
in the fiscal years ended October 28, 2012, Oct8beR011 and October 31, 2010. In Korea and atrBthics Semiconductor Mask
Corporation (PSMC) in Taiwan, various investmertdeedits have been earned to reduce the Compefiigitive income tax rate.

Income tax payments were $ 14.3 million, $10.4ionlland $8.9 million in fiscal 2012, 2011 and 20dpectively. Cash received for

refunds of income taxes paid in prior years amalitde$0.1 million, $0.2 million and $0.1 million fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

55




Index
NOTE 14 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings pare is presented as follows:

Year Ended
October 28,  October 30,  October 31,
2012 2011 2010

Net income attributable to Photronics, Inc. shaldérs $ 27,86¢ $ 16,22¢ $ 23,92:
Effect of dilutive securities

Interest expense on convertible notes, net atedltax effect 6,16¢ - 4,08¢

Gain related to common stock warrants fair valyesithent (94) - -
Earnings for diluted earnings per share $ 33,94: $ 16,22¢ $ 28,00
Weightec-average common shares computatis

Weightec-average common shares usedbasic earnings per she 60,05t 57,03( 53,43

Effect of dilutive securities

Shar~based payment awar 767 1,14t 99¢€

Common stock warran 21¢ 288 63

Convertible notes 15,42! - 11,31:

Dilutive potential common shares 16,40¢ 1,42¢ 12,37(
Weighted-average common shares used for dilutedregs per share 76,46¢ 58,45¢ 65,80
Basic earnings per she $ 0.4€ $ 028 $ 0.4t
Diluted earnings per sha $ 044 % 026 $ 0.4z

The table below shows the outstanding weightedameeshare-based payment awards and common stocknigathat were excluded
from the calculation of diluted earnings per sHageause their exercise price exceeded the averag@nvalue of the common shares for the
period or, under application of the treasury stoekhod, they were otherwise determined to be dutigiz. The table also shows convertible
notes that, if converted, would have been antididut

Year Ended
October 28,  October 30, October 31,
2012 2011 2010
Share based payment awa 2,58 2,40 2,68¢
Convertible note - 13,99 -
Common stock warrants - 21% 74E
Total potentially dilutive shares excluded 2,58 16,61/ 3,42¢

In the first quarter of fiscal year 2013, the Compawarded approximately 0.5 million shared-bassghrent awards to its employees
and directors.
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NOTE 15 - SUBSIDIARY SHARE REPURCHASE

Since the second quarter of fiscal 2011, the boadirectors of PSMC, a subsidiary of the Compaagdal in Taiwan, authorized several
share repurchase programs for PSMC to purchasetfoement shares of its outstanding common stcking fiscal 2012 and 2011, PSMC
purchased 35.9 million and 21.6 million sharespeesively, at a cost of $15.6 million and $9.9 roifl, respectively. These repurchase
programs increased the Company’s ownership in P&bi8 57.53% at October 31, 2010, to 62.25% at Cat@6, 2011, and to 72.09% at
October 28, 2012.

The table below presents the effect of the changled Company’s ownership interest in PSMC on then@any's equity for fiscal years
2012 (35.9 million shares of common stock of PSMpurchased), 2011 (21.6 million shares of PSMCkstepurchased) and 2010 (no
shares of PSMC common stock repurchased).

Year Ended
October 28,  October 30,  October 31,
2012 2011 2010

Net income attributable to Photronics, Inc. shaldérs $ 27,86¢ $ 16,22¢ $ 23,92:

Increase (decrease) in Photronics, Inc.'s additppaic-in capital 1,98t (207) -

Decrease in Photronics, Inc.’s accumulated othemprehensive income (78) - -
Change from net income attributable to Photrorius, shareholders and transfers to or

from noncontrolling interests $ 29,77 $ 16,02¢ $ 23,92:

Subsequent to fiscal year 2012, PSMC completetidist recent share repurchase program in Novemtgr &@h the repurchase of an
additional 9.2 million shares for $4.2 million, whiincreased the Company’s ownership in PSMC tb1r5.

NOTE 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

At October 28, 2012, the Company had outstandimgh@se commitments of $100 million, which inclu&8d million related to capital
expenditures, and had recorded liabilities forghechase of equipment of $7 million. See Note Qofumerating lease commitments.

The Company is subject to various claims that antbe ordinary course of business. The Compatigu®s such claims, individually or
in the aggregate, will not have a material effetite consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 17 - GEOGRAPHIC AND SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMER INFOR MATION

The Company operates as a single operating segmmenmanufacturer of photomasks, which are higtigiom quartz plates containing
microscopic images of electronic circuits for usehie fabrication of IC's and FPDs. Geographicsaéts are based primarily on where the
Company's manufacturing facility is located. Ther@any's 2012, 2011 and 2010 net sales by geograptacand for ICs and FPDs, and t
long-lived assets by geographic area were as fatlow

Year Ended
October 28, October 30, October 31,
2012 2011 2010
Net sales

Korea $ 161,15: $ 171,327 % 143,37:
United State: 135,17( 158,00! 123,75:
Taiwan 109,23: 122,07( 101,18
Europe 40,65 46,61 41,85(
All other 4,23( 14,00¢ 15,39:
$ 450,43¢ $ 512,02( $ 425,55:.

IC $ 350,10¢ $ 391,15¢ $ 329,76
FPD 100,33 120,86: 95,78"

$ 450,43¢ $ 512,02( $ 425,55

October 28, October 30, October 31,

2012 2011 2010
Long-lived assets
United State: $ 177,61: $ 159,84! $ 134,34!
Korea 120,62t 119,85! 131,80:
Taiwan 72,18¢ 77,36% 88,32!
Europe 10,26: 10,87¢ 14,18:
All other 11¢ 734 1,15¢

$ 380,80¢ $ 368,68( $ 369,81

Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd. accounted for appnately 22%, 20% and 19% of the Company's net $aliéscal years 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively.

NOTE 18 — CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject@mmpany to credit risk principally consist of traatecounts receivables and temporary
cash investments. The Company sells its produatsapity to manufacturers in the semiconductor aRDEndustries in North America,
Europe and Asia. The Company believes that theerdration of credit risk in its trade receivablesubstantially mitigated by the Compal
ongoing credit evaluation process and relativelyrsbollection terms. The Company does not generatjuire collateral from customers. 1
Company establishes an allowance for doubtful atisolbased upon factors surrounding the creditaisipecific customers, historical trends
and other information.
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The Company's cash and cash equivalents are degasiseveral financial institutions, includingtihstions located within all of the
countries in which it manufactures photomasks.i®stof deposits in some of these institutions @egeed the amount of insurance avail
for such deposits at these institutions. As thegmsits are generally redeemable upon demand arttelt by high quality, reputable
institutions, the Company considers them to beaimal credit risk. The Company further mitigatesdit risks related to its cash and cash
equivalents by spreading such risk among a numbiestitutions.

NOTE 19 - OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The chairman of the board and chief executive efff the Company is also the vice chairman oftib@d and majority shareholder of a
company that provides secure managed informatidmtiogy services to Photronics. Another direcfahe Company is also a shareholder,
chief executive officer and executive chairmanhaf board of this company. Since 2002, the Compasyehtered into various service
contracts with this company to provide servicealt@f the Company's worldwide facilities. The Caany incurred expenses for services
provided by this company of $1.8 million, $1.8 lioih, and $2.6 million in fiscal years 2012, 20¥id£2010, respectively and, as of both
October 28, 2012 and October 30, 2011, had outstgthlances of $0.2 million due to this compang.oh October 28, 2012, the Company
had contracted with this company for various s@withrough June 2015 at a cost of $3.6 million.

The Company purchases photomask blanks from a agyrgfavhich an officer of the Company is a sigrafit shareholder. The
Company purchased $20.1 million, $21.4 million &24.9 million of photomask blanks from this compamyp012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, for which the amount owed to this pamy was $4.2 million at October 28, 2012, and $&ilflon at October 30, 2011.

The Company believes that the terms of its trammastvith related parties described above were tietgd at arm's length and were no
less favorable to the Company than terms it coaleetobtained from unrelated third parties. See Mdt other related party transactions.

NOTE 20 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Accounting guidance defines fair value as the pifie¢ would be received to sell an asset or trarssfiability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement Alatéorderly transaction” is a transaction thatiames exposure to the market for a pe
prior to the measurement date to allow for markg#intivities that are usual and customary for taatisns involving such assets or liabilities
(i.e. it is not a forced transaction). The trangarcto sell the asset or transfer the liabilitaibypothetical transaction at the measurement date
considered from the perspective of a market paditi that holds the asset or owes the liabilityeréfore, the objective of a fair value
measurement is to determine the price that wouletbeived to sell the asset or paid to transfefigitdity (an exit price) at the measurement
date.

A fair value measurement further assumes thatypethetical transaction occurs in the principalifavo principal market exists, the
most advantageous) market for the asset or lipbHirther, a fair value measurement considerasisamptions that would be made by
market participants when pricing the asset or liigbsuch as transfer restrictions (in the casarohsset) or nonperformance risk and, in the
case of nonfinancial assets, assumes a transactiolving the highest and best use of the asset.

This guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy ghioritizes the inputs to valuation techniquesdito measure fair value into three
broad levels. The fair value hierarchy gives trghhit priority to unadjusted, quoted market prinezctive markets for identical assets or
liabilities (including when the liabilities are ttad as assets) while giving the lowest prioritut@bservable inputs, which are inputs that
reflect the Company's assumptions about the fathatsmarket participants would use in valuing tsee liabilities, based upon the best
information available under existing circumstandasases when the inputs used to measure faievallin different levels of the fair value
hierarchy, the level within which the fair value aserement in its entirety falls is determined bam®the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Whire to changes in the inputs to valuation tealesqused to measure its fair value, an asset
or liability is transferred between levels of tladrfvalue hierarchy, the Company recognizes atidfers to or from any level to be as of the
beginning of the reporting period. Assessing tigaificance of a particular input to the fair valmeasurement in its entirety requires
judgment, including the consideration of factoredfic to the asset or liability. The hierarchy swts of the following three level
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Level 1- Inputs are prices in active markets for identsmsdurities that are accessible at the measurefaént

Level 2- Inputs other than quoted prices included withavél 1 are observable for the asset or liabilityyex directly or indirectly. At
October 30, 2011, the Company's Level 2 liabilifes certain common stock warrants, which are deduin other liabilities.

Level 3- Inputs are unobservable inputs for the asseaability.
Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The tables below present the Company’s liabiliis®f October 30, 2011, that are measured atdhievon a recurring basis. The
Company had no assets or liabilities measuredratdhue on a recurring basis as of October 282201

October 30, 2011

Quoted
Prices
in Active Significant
Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable  Unobservable
Instruments Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Common stock warrants $ - 9 1,147 $ - $ 1,147
Total liabilities $ - 8 1,147 $ - $ 1,145

The fair value of the common stock warrants ligpivas determined using the Black-Scholes optiacimpy model. A significant
observable input into the model was the marketpoicthe Company's common stock at the measuretla¢eit Gains or losses related to fair
value adjustments to the common stock warrantditiabre included in other income (expense), net.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

The Company did not have any nonfinancial asseliglutities measured at fair value on a nonrecgbasis at October 28, 2012 or
October 30, 2011.

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments

The fair values of the Company's cash and caslvalgunits (Level 1 measurements), accounts receivabd®unts payable, and certain
other current assets and current liabilities (L&/adleasurements) approximate their carrying valieetd their short-term maturities. The fair
value of the Company'’s financing loan with a custoiis a Level 2 measurement that approximatesityiog value due to its short-term
maturity. The fair value of the Company’s varialdée term loan is a Level 2 measurement and appadies its carrying value due to the
variable nature of the underlying interest ratd®e Tair value of the Company’s convertible seniotes is a Level 2 measurement that is
determined using recent bid prices. The table bgmsents the fair and carrying values of the Camisaconvertible senior notes at October
28, 2012 and October 30, 2011.

October 28, 201z October 30, 2011
Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value
3.25% convertible senior not $ 110,23¢ $ 115,00 $ 109,26( $ 115,00(
5.5% convertible senior not $ 27,75 $ 22,05¢ $ 32,79: $ 22,05
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NOTE 21 - QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITE D)

The following table sets forth certain unauditeduerly financial data:

First Second Third Fourth Year

Fiscal 2012: (@) (b) (c) (d) (a) () (c)(d
Net sales $ 112,15 $ 117,45. $ 116,61t $ 104,21¢ $ 450,43
Gross margir 25,45¢ 29,86! 32,30¢ 24,291 111,92(
Net income 4,841 9,53( 11,267 4,217 29,85¢
Net income attributable to Photronics, Inc. shaleddrs 4,26¢ 8,81¢ 10,95( 3,83 27,86¢
Earnings per shar

Basic $ 0.07 $ 0.1t % 0.1t $ 0.0e $ 0.4¢€

Diluted $ 007 % 014 % 0.1€ $ 0.0¢6 $ 0.44
Fiscal 2011: (e) ® (9 (h) (i) 0] () (k)
Net sales $ 120,820 $ 133,100 $ 135,93! $ 122,15¢ $ 512,02
Gross margir 30,59¢ 36,48¢ 38,24( 30,89: 136,21«
Net income (loss 13,58¢ (15,039 12,62: 9,03t 20,20¢
Net income (loss) attributable to Photronics,

shareholder 12,11 (16,43% 11,26¢ 9,291 16,22¢
Earnings (loss) per shai

Basic $ 02: $ (0.30 $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1¢ $ 0.2¢

Diluted $ 02 $ (030 $ 0.1€ $ 014 % 0.2¢

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

()

(k)

Includes consolidation and restructuring charge®lof million, net of tax, in connection with thssebntinuance of manufacturing
operations at the Compg¢’s Singapore facility

Includes non-cash gain of $0.1 million, net of tiax¢onnection with subsequent measurement av#ure of warrants issued to
purchase the Compa’s stock.

Includes consolidation and restructuring charge®0of million, net of tax, in connection with thisebntinuance of manufacturing
operations at the Compe’s Singapore facility

Includes consolidation and restructuring charge®0o2? million, net of tax, in connection with thssebntinuance of manufacturing
operations at the Compg¢’s Singapore facility

Includes non-cash loss of $0.1 million, net of axgonnection with subsequent measurement avédire of warrants issued to
purchase the Compa’s stock.

Includes debt extinguishment loss of $30.3 millinet of tax, in connection with the acquisition$30.4 million principal amount of
the Compan’s 5.5% convertible senior notes, with original miggudate of October 201

Includes non-cash loss of $0.7 million, net of taxgonnection with subsequent measurement av&ire of warrants used to
purchase the Compa’s stock.

Includes debt extinguishment loss of $5.0 millioef of tax, in connection with the acquisition & million principal amount of the
Compan’s 5.5% convertible senior notes, with original migyudate of October 201«

Includes non-cash gain of $0.2 million, net of tiexconnection with subsequent measurement av#ire of warrants used to
purchase the Compa’s stock.

Includes debt extinguishment loss of $35.3 millinet of tax, in connection with the acquisition$85.4 million principal amount of
the Compan’s 5.5% convertible senior notes, with original miggudate of October 201

Includes non-cash loss of $0.4 million, net of i@xconnection with subsequent measurement avéire of warrants used to
purchase the Compa’s stock.
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NOTE 22 - RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05,dmtasion of Comprehensive Income (“ASU 2011-05"5WA2011-05 requires
companies to present the components of net incomi®ther comprehensive income either as one canimatatement or as two consecutive
statements. It eliminates the option to presentpmomants of other comprehensive income as parteoftdtement of changes in stockholders’
equity. ASU 2011-05 is effective for interim anchaial periods beginning after December 15, 201lisagplied retrospectively. The
Company has adopted this update and presentedtisollated Statements of Comprehensive Income diatedy following the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

There have been no recent accounting pronouncemiose adoption would affect the Company’s finalnstiatements or related
disclosures.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None

ITEM CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
9A.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company has established and currently mainthsttosure controls and procedures, as such tdafined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934amended (the "Exchange Act"), designed to erthatenformation required to be
disclosed in its reports filed under the Exchangg & recorded, processed, summarized and repaitbith the time periods specified in the
Securities and Exchange Commission's rules andsfaand that such information is accumulated andnecomicated to management,
including the Company's chief executive officer ahikf financial officer, as appropriate, to alléev timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. In designing and evaluating disclosar@rols and procedures, management recognizedutlyatontrols and procedures, no mq
how well designed and operated, can provide ordgapable assurance of achieving the desired cartijettives, and management
necessarily was required to apply its judgmenwiating the cost-benefit relationship of possitiatrols and procedures.

The Company's management, under the supervisiowghdhe participation of the Compasychief executive officer and chief financ
officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the desige operation of the Company’s disclosure contal$ procedures as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based upon that evaluatierCompany’s chief executive officer and chieffigial officer concluded that the
Company'’s disclosure controls and procedures wigzetve at a reasonable assurance level as adrileof the period covered by this report.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There was no change in the Company's internal aloower financial reporting during the fourth fiscpuarter that has materially affect:
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, ther@pany's internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaing adequate internal control over financiglaing, as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Aternal control over financial reporting is a pess designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financigdogting and the preparation of financial statemémt&xternal purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Cetapaternal control over financial reporting as@Qdtober 28, 2012, based on the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsorimgdhizations of the Treadway Commission in "Inté@antrol - Integrated Framework."
Management, under the supervision and with thegiaation of the Company's chief executive offieed chief financial officer, assessed
the Company's internal control over financial reéjmorwas effective as of October 28, 2012.

The Company's independent registered public acowyfitm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, has audited théeetiveness of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of Gm¢r 28, 2012, as stated in their attestation tepopage 32 of this Form 10-K.

January 9, 2013
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information as to Directors required by Iteni 4005 and 407(c)(3)(d)(4) and (d)(5) of Regulat® is set forth in the Company's
2013 definitive Proxy Statement which will be filadth the Securities and Exchange Commission putsioaRegulation 14A of the
Exchange Act within 120 days after the end of tkeal year covered by this Form 10-K under theicaptPROPOSAL 1 - ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS," "SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REFRTING COMPLIANCE" and in the third paragraph unttez caption
"MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD," and is ingoorated in this report by reference. The inforoaths to Executive
Officers is included in the Company's 2013 defu@tProxy Statement under the caption "EXECUTIVE G@HERS" and is incorporated in
this report by reference.

The Company has adopted a code of ethics thatesaliits principal executive officer, principatdincial officer and principal
accounting officer or controller. A copy of the eodf ethics may be obtained, free of charge, byingrito the vice president general counsel
of Photronics, Inc. at 15 Secor Road, Brookfieldn@ecticut 06804.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 402 of RegulatfiK and paragraph (e)(4) and (e)(5) of Item 4Q3etisforth in the Company's 2013
definitive Proxy Statement under the captions "EXHG/E COMPENSATION," "CERTAIN AGREEMENTS", "DIRECT@AS'
COMPENSATION", "COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS MWD INSIDER PARTICIPATION" and "COMPENSATION
COMMITTEE REPORT," respectively, and is incorporhie this report by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 201(d) of RegwdatS-K is set forth in the Company’s 2013 defirgtRroxy Statement under the
caption “EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION?", andbk incorporated in this report by reference. Tifermation required by
Item 403 of Regulation S-K is set forth in the Canp's 2013 definitive Proxy Statement under theéicagOWNERSHIP OF COMMON
STOCK BY DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND CERTAIN BENEFICIADWNERS", and is incorporated in this report byerefce.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Items 404 and Item 406f Regulation S-K is set forth in the Compar2043 definitive Proxy Statement
under the captions "MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES OF THE®ARD" and "CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED
TRANSACTIONS", respectively, and is incorporatedhis report by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 9(e) of Rule 14 bf the Exchange Act is set forth in the Compa@@13 definitive Proxy Statement

under the captions "FEES PAID TO THE INDEPENDENT@&ETERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM" and "AUDIT COMMITEE
REPORT," and is incorporated in this report by refiee.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following documents are filed as part of tiepaort:

Page
No.
1. Financial Statements: See "INDEX TO CONSOLIDATEINANCIAL STATEMENTS" in Part Il, Item 8 of this Form K. 31
2. Financial Statement Schedul
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing 65
Schedule I- Valuation and Qualifying Accounfor the years ended October 28, 2012, October @01 ,2and October 31, 20: 66
All other schedules are omitted because they arappicable
3. Exhibits 67

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Photronics, Inc.
Brookfield, Connecticut

We have audited the consolidated financial statésn@fPhotronics, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Camyfpas of October 28, 2012 and
October 30, 2011, and for each of the three figeals ended October 28, 2012, October 30, 201Datwber 31, 2010, and the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of Gm¢r 28, 2012, and have issued our report therawddanuary 9, 2013 (which report
expresses an unqualified opinion on the finan¢&ksnents and includes an explanatory paragraptingito the Company's adoption of
Financial Accounting Standards Board Accountingi8sads Update No. 2011-05, Presentation of Comps#e Income); such report is
included elsewhere in this Form X0-Our audits also included the consolidated finalngtatement schedule of the Company listed im 1.
This consolidated financial statement schedulkaésrésponsibility of the Company's management.régponsibility is to express an opinion
based on our audits. In our opinion, such constd@ifinancial statement schedule, when considereéelation to the basic consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole, presenty,fai all material respects, the information &®th therein.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
January 9, 2013
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Year ended October 28, 20
Year ended October 30, 20
Year ended October 31, 20

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance
Year ended October 28, 20

Year ended October 30, 20
Year ended October 31, 20

Schedule Il

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

for the Years Ended October 28, 2012, October 30021

and October 31, 201(
(in thousands)

Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning of Costs and End of
Year Expenses Deductions Year
$ 4,058 $ (209 ¢ 5C (@) $ 3,907
$ 4,23 $ 29¢ $ (47¢) (a) $ 4,05¢
$ 2,66¢ $ 1,97t $ (409 (@) $ 4,23t
$ 53,06 $ 3331 % (85¢) (b) $ 55,53¢
$ 61,30 $ - $ (8,24() (b) $ 53,06
$ 50,44¢ $ 20,41¢ $ (9,565 (c) $ 61,30

(a) Uncollectible accounts written off and impact ofdign currency translatiol

(b) Primarily due to utilization of net operating lossnd expiration of investment tax cre

(c) Primarily due to reversal of valuation allowance $fanghai, China, facility closure and impactaafuced income tax rates Taiwan.
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Exhibit
Number

EXHIBITS INDEX

Description

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

Certificate of Incorporation as amended July 9,6198ril 9, 1990, March 16, 1995, November 13, 1,98ril 15, 2002 and
June 20, 2005 (incorporated by reference to ExBiliito the Company's Annual Report on Form 10+Klie fiscal year ended
October 28, 2007

By-laws of the Company, (incorporated by referetacExhibit 3.2 to the Company's Registration Statetron Form S-1, File
Number 3-11694, which was declared effective by the Comraissin March 10, 1987

Form of Indenture between the Company and the BamNew York, as Trustee (incorporated by referetacExhibit 4.1 to th
Compan's Registration Statement on For-3 File Number 33-160235 filed on June 25, 200!

Indenture dated September 16, 2009 between the &omand the Bank of New York, as Trustee (incorjmatdy reference
Exhibit 4.1 to the Compar's Current Report on Form 8K filed September 17 92(

Supplement to Indenture dated September 16, 200@&ba the Company and the Bank of New York, astérigelating to tF
issuance of the Company’s 5.5% Convertible Notes 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2the Company
Current Report on Form 8K filed September 17, 2!

Indenture dated March 28, 2011 between the Comaadythe Bank of Nova Scotia Trust Company of NewkYcorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on March 29, 2011

Master Service Agreement dated January 11, 20@2ceetthe Company and RagingWire Telecommunicatioes,
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlmrpany's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fisgsdr ended November 1,
2009).

Underwriting Agreement between the Company and Flioi§tanley & Co. Incorporated dated September@@9 2relating to
the issuance of the Company’s 5.5% ConvertibleeBldue 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8K filed September 11, 20

Underwriting Agreement between the Company and ioigtanley & Co. Incorporated dated September @9 2elating to
the issuance of 9,638,554 shares of common stochrfiorated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Gany’s Current Report
on Form 8K filed September 11, 200

Warrant Agreement between the Company and Inteit@aporporation dated September 10, 2009 (incarat by reference
Exhibit 10.3 to the Compa’s Current Report on Form 8K filed September 11 92(

Warrant Agreement between the Company and Inteit@aporporation dated September 10, 2009 (incarsat by reference
Exhibit 10.4 to the Compa’s Current Report on Form 8K filed September 11 92(

The Company’s 1992 Employee Stock Purchase Plaorfiorated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Gany’s Registratio
Statement on Form-8, File Number 3-47446 which was filed April 24, 1994*

Amendment to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan ksath 24, 2004 (incorporated by reference to ExHiB.7 to the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 20:*

Amendment to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan aspof 8, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhib0.42 to th
Company's Quarterly Report on Form-Q filed on June 10, 201C*

Amendment to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan k&aath 28, 2012 (incorporated by reference to tbm@any's Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q filed on September 5, 201+

The Company’s 2007 Longerm Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by refeeto the Company's Quarterly Report on F
1C-Q filed on September 5, 201:*
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10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

21

23

Amendment to the 2007 Long Term Equity IncentivanPas of April 8, 2010 (incorporated by referere&xhibit 10.43 to th
Company's Quarterly Report on Form-Q filed on June 10, 201C*

Consulting Agreement between the Company and CotirstaS. Macricostas, dated July 11, 2005. (incaxieal by reference !
Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Annual Report onrrdi0-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 20t fon January 13,
2012)*

Amendment No. 1 to the Consulting Agreement betw@enstantine S. Macricostas and the Company dabeérNber 10,
2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1thesCompany’s Annual Report on Form 10K for tlsedl year ended
November 2, 2008*

Executive Employment Agreement between the CompadySean T. Smith dated February 20, 2003 (incatpdrby referent
to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company's Annual Reporfonm 1(-K for the fiscal year ended November 1, 20+

Limited Liability Company Operating Agreement of MRask Technology Center, LLC between Micron Tecbggl Inc.
("Micron") and Photronics, Inc. ("Photronics") ddt®lay 5, 2006. (incorporated by reference to ExHibil4 to the Company’
Annual Report on Form K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 20#

Contribution and Units Purchase Agreement betwemdvl, Photronics and MP Mask Technology CenteiCL(LMP Mask")
dated May 5, 2006. (incorporated by reference toilkik10.15 to the Company’s Annual Report on FA@AK for the fiscal
year ended October 30, 20%

Technology License Agreement among Micron, Phot®and MP Mask dated May 5, 2006. (incorporatetkfsrence to
Exhibit 10.16 to the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 20#

Photronics to Micron Supply Agreement between Micand Photronics dated May 5, 2006. (incorporaterkference to
Exhibit 10.17 to the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 20#

Company to Photronics Supply Agreement between MBKVand Photronics dated May 5, 2006. (incorporayecference to
Exhibit 10.18 to the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 20#

Special Warranty Deed dated as of February 29 Zidtorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to @wmpany’s Current
Report on Form-K filed on March 6, 2012

Executive Employment Agreement between the CompaaySoo Hong Jeong dated May 31, 2011 (incorpotatedeference
to Exhibit 10.40 to the Compa’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed on June 8, 2011*

Executive Employment Agreement between the CompaudyChristopher J. Progler, Vice President, Chexftihology Officer
dated September 10, 2007. (incorporated by rederemExhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Annual Report~orm 10-K filed on
January 11, 200¢

Executive Employment Agreement between the CompadyPeter Kirlin dated May 21, 2010 (incorporatgdédference to
Exhibit 10.42 of the Company's Quarterly Reporfonm 1(-Q filed on June 10, 201C*

Executive Employment Agreement between the CompawyRichelle Burr dated May 21, 2010 (incorpordigdeference to
Exhibit 10.43 of the Company's Quarterly ReporfFonm 1(-Q filed on June 10, 201C*

Form of Amendment to Executive Employment Agreentaitéd March 16, 2012 (incorporated by referendextubit 99.1 to
the Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on March 16, 2012+

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement datefiMarch 2, 2012 (incorporated by referencextoiltit 99.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Fori-K filed on March 6, 2012

Security Agreement dated December 12, 2008 by arahg the Company, the subsidiaries of the Compiatsdl on the
signature page and JPMorgan Chase Bank Nationakksi®n (incorporated by reference to Exhibit Bot@ the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for the quarterly pgr@nded May 3, 200¢

List of Subsidiaries of the Company

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP
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31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

ES

#

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exgkaict of 1934, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002.*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant Rule 13a-14(a)/15d4(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, aptat
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 2002.*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant 86306 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant 086306 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.*

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent
Represents a management contract or compensasryphrrangemer

Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuars request for confidential treatment filed witle Securities and Exchange
Commission

Represents an exhibit that is filed with this AniniRaport on Form 1-K.

The Company will provide a copy of any exhibit upeseipt of a written request for the particulahibk or exhibits desired.
All requests should be addressed to the Compagayisrgl counsel at the address of the Company'sijpairexecutive offices
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

PHOTRONICS, INC
(Registrant’

By /s/ SEANT. SMITH January 9, 2013
Sean T. Smitl
Senior Vice Presidel
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Accounting Officer
Principal Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélptihe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

By /s/ CONSTANTINE S. MACRICOSTA! January 9, 2013
Constantine S. Macricost
Chairman of the Boar
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer

By /s/ SEANT. SMITH January 9, 2013
Sean T. Smitl
Senior Vice Presidet
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Accounting Officer
Principal Financial Officer

By /s/ WALTER M. FIEDEROWICZ January 9, 2013

Walter M. Fiederowic:
Director

By /s/ JOSEPH A. FIORITA, JF January 9, 2013

Joseph A. Fiorita, J
Director

By /s/ LIANG-CHOO HSIA January 9, 2013
Liang-Choo Hsie
Director

By /s GEORGE MACRICOSTA! January 9, 2013

George Macricostz
Director

By /s/MITCHELL G. TYSON January 9, 2013

Mitchell G. Tyson
Director
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Exhibit 21

Align-Rite International, Inc
Align-Rite, Inc.
Align-Rite International, Ltd
Photronics (Wales) Limite
Photronics, B.V
Photronics Arizona, In¢
Photronics California, Inc

SUBSIDIARIES OF PHOTRONICS, INC.

State or Jurisdictio

of Incorporation or Organizatic

(California, USA)
(Florida, USA)
(United Kingdom)
(United Kingdom)
(Netherlands
(Arizona, USA)
(California, USA)

Photronics Idaho, In (Idaho, USA)
Photronics Texas, Ini (Texas, USA
Photronics Texas |, LL¢ (Delaware, USA
Photronics Texas I, LP (. (Texas, USA
Photronics Texas Allen, In (Texas, USA
Photronics Texas I, LL( (Delaware, USA
Photronics Texas Il, LP ( (Texas, USA
Photronics MZD, Gmbt (Germany)
Photronics Semiconductor Mask Corporation (Taiwan, R.O.C.
Photronics Switzerland, S.a.r (Switzerland)
Photronics Singapore Pte, L (Singapore
Photronics UK, Ltd (United Kingdom)
Photronics France SAS ( (France)
PK, Ltd. (5) (Korea)
PKLT (Taiwan)
Trianja Technologies, In (Texas, USA

Note: Entities directly owned by subsidiaries obRbnics, Inc. are indented and listed below theimediate parent. Ownership is 10t

unless otherwise indicated.

(1) 99.0% owned by Photronics Texas I, LLC, ari#d.owned by Photronics Texas, Inc. (directly ardirgctly, in the aggregate, wholly

owned by Photronics, Inc.

(2) 99.0% owned by Photronics Texas Il, LLC., 4@ owned by Photronics Texas Allen, Inc. (dineethd indirectly, in the aggregate,

wholly owned by Photronics, Inc.
(3) 75.11% owned by Photronics, Ir

(4) 99% owned by Photronics UK, Ltd., and 1% owhgdPhotronics MZD, GmbH (directly and indirectiy,the aggregate, wholly owned

by Photronics, Inc.]

(5) 79.98% owned by Photronics, Inc., and 19.71% owneBhotronics Singapore Pte L




EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement Nos. 333-160235 and 333-16b85Form S-3 and Registration
Statement Nos. 333-169296, 333-169295, 333-0223%542010, 333-50809, 333-86846, 333-78102 and 33343 on Form S-8 of our
reports dated January 9, 2013, relating to theatmtzded financial statements (which report expeesan unqualified opinion on the financial
statements and includes an explanatory paragragingeto the Company's adoption of Financial Aatting Standards Board Accounting
Standards Update No. 2011-®%gesentation of Comprehensive Income) and financial statement schedule of Photronics,dnd subsidiaries
and the effectiveness of Photronics, Inc. andutsliaries' internal control over financial refiegtappearing in this Annual Report on Form
10-K of Photronics, Inc. and its subsidiaries fox year ended October 28, 2012.

/s/Deloitte & Touche LLP
Hartford, Connecticut
January 9, 2013




EXHIBIT 31.1
I, Constantine S. Macricostas, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Photronics, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatommny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to tl
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this ref

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isg prepared

b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finaheaorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registalisclosure controls and procedures and presémthis annual report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discisantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
annual report based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in #hggstrant's internal control over financial repagtihat occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeadt, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; ant

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anglalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairebaver financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; anc

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabires management or other employees who have #disa role in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

/s/ CONSTANTINE S. MACRICOSTA!
Constantine S. Macricostas

Chief Executive Officer

January 9, 201




EXHIBIT 31.2
I, Sean T. Smith, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Photronics, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatommny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to tl
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemems other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this ref

4. The registrant's other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isg prepared

b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finaheaorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodgiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registalisclosure controls and procedures and presémthis annual report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discisantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
annual report based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in #hggstrant's internal control over financial repagtihat occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeadt, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; ant

5. The registrant's other certifying officer anglalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataumnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@ispersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairebaver financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant's ability to record, process, summaaizé report financial
information; anc

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabires management or other employees who have #disa role in the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

/s/ SEAN T. SMITH
Sean T. Smitl

Chief Financial Office
January 9, 201




EXHIBIT 32.1
Section 1350 Certification of the Chief Executive @icer

I, Constantine S. Macricostas, Chief Executive ¢gffiof Photronics, Inc. (the "Company"), certifyrguant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form X0ef the Company for the year ended October 2823€ie "Report”) fully complies with tr
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SdesrExchange Act of 1934; al

(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finaraaldition and results of
operations of the Compar

/s/ CONSTANTINE S. MACRICOSTA!
Constantine S. Macricostas

Chief Executive Officer

January 9, 201




EXHIBIT 32.2
Section 1350 Certification of the Chief Financial Gicer

I, Sean T. Smith, Chief Financial Officer of Phatics, Inc. (the "Company"), certify, pursuant tacten 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form X0ef the Company for the year ended October 2823€ie "Report”) fully complies with tr
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SdesrExchange Act of 1934; al

(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finaraaldition and results of
operations of the Compar

/s/ SEAN T. SMITH
Sean T. Smitl

Chief Financial Office
January 9, 201




